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Foreword

In 1973, historian Arthur Schlesinger coined the term “Imperial Presidency” to describe a presidency that had assumed more power than the Constitution allows, and had circumvented the traditional checks and balances of our constitutional system. Until recently, the Nixon Administration seemed to represent the singular embodiment of that idea. But today, as the Bush Administration comes to a close, there can be little doubt concerning the persistence of Mr. Schlesinger’s notion. More than three decades later, Mr. Schlesinger himself characterized the Bush Administration as “the Imperial Presidency redux,” although he more optimistically predicted that “democracy’s singular virtue – its capacity for self-correction – will one day swing into action.” Today, in hindsight I can attest to the prescience of Mr. Schlesinger’s warnings of unchecked power, even as we vigorously pursue the much-needed democratic self-correction he anticipated.





The Bush Administration’s approach to power is, at its core, little more than a restatement of Mr. Nixon’s famous rationalization of presidential misdeeds: “When the president does it, that means it’s not illegal.” Under this view, laws that forbid torturing or degrading prisoners cannot constrain the president because, if the president ordered such acts as Commander in Chief, “that means it’s not illegal.” Under this view, it is not the courts that decide the reach of the law – it is the president – and neither the judiciary nor Congress can constrain him. And where statutory law or the Constitution itself appear to impose obstacles to presidential whim, creative counselors can be relied upon to reach whatever result the president desires.





This dismissive approach to our system of checks and balances was exemplified when the Vice President’s Chief of Staff, David Addington, appeared before the House Judiciary Committee on June 26, 2008. As much as any individual in the Bush Administration, David Addington is considered the architect of the concept of unchecked and unreviewable presidential powers known as the “unitary executive” (in a New Yorker profile, a former Pentagon attorney, Richard Schiffrin, said that he left one meeting with Mr. Addington with the impression that he “doesn’t believe there should be co-equal branches”). Yet when I questioned Mr. Addington about the unitary executive theory of government during our Judiciary Committee hearing, he responded, “I frankly, don’t know what you mean by unitary theory of government.”





Perhaps nowhere was the range and scope of this most recent version of the Imperial Presidency more apparent than within the United States Department of Justice, the cornerstone of law enforcement in our country. While each administration re-populates the upper reaches of the Department with its own appointees, the men and women who have served there – in administrations of both political parties and throughout our Nation’s history – have taken to heart the Department’s core values of fair, honest, and impartial justice. Thus, at the height of Watergate, in what became known as the “Saturday Night Massacre,” President Nixon’s Attorney General Elliot Richardson and Mr. Richardson’s Deputy William Ruckelshaus famously resigned rather than carry out the President’s order to fire Special Prosecutor Archibald Cox, who had subpoenaed White House tape recordings.





The contrast with the Bush Department of Justice could not be starker. In this Administration, too many Department leaders abandoned that proud tradition of independence and integrity, and made decisions based on political objectives rather than the facts and the law. Young political operatives were given control over the most sensitive operations of the Department, and federally protected, non-partisan law enforcement positions were used to provide political patronage. The Civil Rights Division was twisted to obtain partisan electoral advantage, rather than protect the most vulnerable among us from discrimination.





In keeping with its imperial aspirations, the Administration went to extraordinary lengths to hide its conduct from scrutiny and avoid accountability. Thus, the White House refused to respond to congressional subpoenas, and insisted that presidential aides – and even former aides – are immune from subpoena, even though numerous presidential aides have testified under congressional subpoena during past administrations, as every citizen is legally obligated to do. Here, too, the Administration was following the example set by Richard Nixon. When President Nixon suggested such a claim, Senator Sam Ervin responded: “That is not executive privilege. That is executive poppycock.”





The Bush Administration has relied on even more extreme claims in refusing to release documents subpoenaed by Congress. In the end, the Administration has been so recalcitrant in asserting this “executive poppycock” that the Committee was forced to pursue witnesses and documents in federal court. Even after the Committee secured a historic victory rejecting the Administration’s claims, the White House still refused to relent. As of this writing, the matter remains in litigation.





There have been additional transgressions against the Constitution and the country by the Bush Administration. There was the contrived and manipulated drive to a preemptive war of aggression with Iraq. In the words of the Downing Street Minutes, “the intelligence and facts were being fixed around the policy.” There was the unconscionable use of detention without cause; enhanced interrogation if not outright torture; extraordinary rendition; the extralegal use of national security letters; warrantless wiretaps of American citizens; the unilateral weakening of our regulatory system; the use of signing statements to override the laws of the land; and the intimidation and silencing of critics and whistleblowers who dared tell fellow citizens what was being done in their name.





Many think these acts rise to the level of impeachable conduct. I agree. I have never wavered in my belief that this President and Vice-President are among the most impeachable officials in our Nation’s history, and the more we learn the truer that becomes.





Some ardent advocates of impeachment have labeled me a traitor – or worse – for declining to begin a formal impeachment inquiry in the House Judiciary Committee. While I reject that particular criticism, I want to make clear how much I respect those who have given so much time and energy to the cause of fighting for the impeachment of President Bush and Vice-President Cheney. While we may not agree on the best path forward, I know they are acting on the basis of our shared love of this country. These citizens are not fringe radicals, and they are obviously not motivated simply by personal feelings about President Bush, however strong those feelings may be at times. They are individuals who care deeply about our Constitution and our Nation, and who have stood up to fight for the democracy they love, often at great personal cost. Our country was founded, and our democracy has long been nurtured, by people willing to take such risks, and we should honor their vigilance and courage.





However, as I have said, while President Bush and Vice President Cheney have earned the dishonorable eligibility to be impeached, I do not believe that would have been the appropriate step at this time in our history, and I would like again to briefly explain why that is the case.





Contrary to assertions by some advocates, the predecessor to this Report – the Judiciary Committee then-Minority staff’s “Constitution in Crisis” – did not call for impeachment. Rather, it concluded that there was substantial evidence of impeachable misconduct and that there should be a full investigation by a select Committee armed with subpoena power. Prior to the 2006 elections, when I saw that my views on impeachment were being misstated by friends and foes alike, I set the record straight in an essay published in The Washington Post titled “No Rush to Impeachment:”



The administration’s stonewalling, and the lack of oversight by Congress, have left us to guess whether we are dealing with isolated wrongdoing, or mistakes, or something worse. In my view, the American people deserve answers, not guesses. I have proposed that we obtain these answers in a responsible and bipartisan manner. It was House Republicans who took power in 1995 with immediate plans to undermine President Bill Clinton by any means necessary, and they did so in the most autocratic, partisan and destructive ways imaginable. If there is any lesson from those “revolutionaries,” it is that partisan vendettas ultimately provoke a public backlash and are never viewed as legitimate.



 So, rather than seeking impeachment, I have chosen to propose comprehensive oversight of these alleged abuses. The oversight I have suggested would be performed by a select committee made up equally of Democrats and Republicans and chosen by the House speaker and the minority leader.



 The committee’s job would be to obtain answers – finally. At the end of the process, if – and only if – the select committee, acting on a bipartisan basis, finds evidence of potentially impeachable offenses, it would forward that information to the Judiciary Committee. This threshold of bipartisanship is appropriate, I believe, when dealing with an issue of this magnitude.



Nonetheless, I have been accused of “violating my oath of office” by “playing politics” with impeachment, and I have been criticized for saying that I have the Constitution in one hand and a calculator in the other. I would suggest that this argument ignores the text and history of the Constitution. There is nothing mandatory about using the power to impeach when wrongful conduct is shown, and the decision whether or not to impeach was always intended to be subject to the politics at the time. We live in a democracy, after all.





Thus, in Federalist No. 65, Alexander Hamilton described impeachable offenses as “those... which proceed from the misconduct of public men... which may with peculiar propriety be denominated POLITICAL...” (Caps in original.) To address these “political” offenses, the Constitutional Convention rejected using either a judicial tribunal (that was the approach of the “Virginia Plan”) or a hybrid committee of judicial and political officers (as proposed by Gouverneur Morris and Charles Pinckney), and instead vested the authority in the legislature. As the records of the Convention detail, the Founders made this choice fully aware of the political considerations that would factor into impeachment decisions.





The simple fact is, despite the efforts of impeachment advocates, the support and votes have not been there, and could not reasonably be expected to materialize. It takes 218 votes in the House and 67 votes in the Senate to impeach and remove a president from office. The resolution I offered three years ago to simply investigate whether an impeachment inquiry was warranted garnered only 38 cosponsors in the House, and the Democratic Leader of the Senate labeled it “ridiculous.” Impeachment resolutions against Vice President Cheney and President Bush offered by my friend and colleague Dennis Kucinich only garnered 27 and 11 House cosponsors, respectively.





Impeachment, if done right, also takes time. When I became Chairman of the House Judiciary Committee in January of 2007, after twelve years of Republican rule, we had to start much of our oversight from scratch, and against an Administration more dedicated to secrecy and obfuscation than any in our history. Unlike the Nixon impeachment, we did not have the benefit of the bipartisan Ervin Committee or a fearless special prosecutor such as Archibald Cox or Leon Jaworski to help lay the groundwork needed to remove a president or vice president from office.





During the failed impeachment of President Bill Clinton, many of us derided House Republicans for, in the words of Senator Bob Kerrey, “sloppily” conducting the inquiry. Without calling a single fact witness, the Republicans essentially rubber-stamped the work of Independent Counsel Ken Starr and forwarded his allegations on to defeat in the Senate. Many advocates would have had me do the same to this President based on newspaper and magazine articles. But that course would have cheapened the impeachment process itself – and would not have led to success.





The final plea was: “Why not try? What do you have to lose?” Impeachments, however, both successful and unsuccessful, have precedential consequences – they set standards for future presidential behavior. The House Judiciary Committee’s rejection of an article of impeachment against President Nixon for failing to file tax returns, for example, was used as precedent in acquitting President Clinton for impeachment based on personal misdeeds.





While some of the difficulty in garnering support for impeachment results from fatigue over the recent and unjustified impeachment of President Clinton, and concern about routinizing what should be an extraordinary constitutional event – whatever the reason, an impeachment vote in the House was certain to fail. What, then, would be the precedent set by a House vote against the impeachment of President Bush or Vice President Cheney for deceiving our nation into war, allowing torture, engaging in warrantless domestic surveillance, and retaliating against those who attempted to reveal the truth about these acts? In my view, a failed impeachment – by an almost certainly lopsided vote – would have grossly lowered the bar for presidential behavior and caused great damage to our Constitution. More immediately, a failure to impeach President Bush and Vice President Cheney would have been trumpeted by their allies as a vindication for them and for their overreaching policies.





To all of us who treasure our constitutional form of government and our standing in the world, and mourn the loss of life in a war built on deception, I know the failure to impeach is a deeply unsatisfying outcome. As one who has participated in more impeachments than any other Member of Congress, I came to the realization that this is the reality of this moment in history. Faced with that reality, I had a choice: do nothing; or redouble my efforts to peel away the secrecy of this Administration, expose its wrongdoing, and protect the liberties and freedoms of the American people.





I chose the latter course. This is what led me to bring suit in federal court to challenge the legality of the Iraq War. This is what led me to publish my own report, “What Went Wrong in Ohio,” and join with Barbara Boxer and the late Stephanie Tubbs Jones in filing an election challenge on the House floor challenging the unjust result in 2004. This is what led me to personally deliver a letter to the White House regarding the manipulation of intelligence described in the Downing Street Minutes, signed by 121 Members and more than 500,000 Americans, to challenge the warrantless surveillance of innocent Americans, and to hold a series of Minority hearings in the basement of the Capitol and the Rayburn Building regarding these matters. This is what led me to call for a special counsel to investigate the culpability of the White House in the outing of Valerie Plame. And over the last two years in the Majority, this is what led the Judiciary Committee to conduct 157 days of oversight hearings.





These choices produced results. As just one example, our Committee issued the first subpoenas of the new Congress when we learned that United States Attorneys had been mysteriously dismissed. Our investigative efforts turned up thousands of pages of documents, which were made available, in real time, on the Internet to the public. We went to court and obtained the testimony of former Justice Department/White House liaison Monica Goodling. These efforts exposed substantial wrongdoing at the Department, and resulted in passage of a new law regarding the replacement of U.S. Attorneys, the resignations of numerous high-ranking Department officials, including the Attorney General, and an ongoing criminal investigation of these officials.





When the culpability for the firing of the United States Attorneys appeared to lead into the White House, the Committee subpoenaed high-ranking presidential aides and internal White House memos. When the Administration refused to comply, our Committee held the responsible officials in contempt, and the full House followed suit. And when the Justice Department refused to prosecute, the Committee filed suit in federal court and won a landmark victory.





In addition to the appointment of Patrick Fitzgerald as Special Counsel in the Valerie Plame matter and the conviction of Scooter Libby, I released a Homeland Security Inspector General Report calling into question the rendition of Maher Arar to Syria, and obtained two GAO reports confirming the harm and danger of President Bush’s signing statements. At the time of this Report, we are awaiting an Office of Professional Responsibility report concerning what may have been the selective, politically biased prosecution of former Alabama Governor Don Siegelman and others, Inspector General reports concerning the propriety of the President’s warrantless surveillance program, a Special U.S. Attorney investigation into the U.S. Attorney firings, and a Special U.S. Attorney investigation into the CIA tape destruction. All of this is occurring even before the onset of a new, more open Administration.





Moreover, history is already judging President George W. Bush. As of this writing, his approval rating is in the mid-20s, dismal by any standard. The November 2008 election is widely viewed as a landslide repudiation of President Bush and his policies.





But our work is not done. The lesson I took away from Watergate and the Vietnam era spying abuses was that much of the work of reining in an Imperial Presidency takes place after the change in Administrations. It was only due to the work of the Church Committee and other reviews initiated after President Nixon resigned that we were able to pass historic legislation such as the Federal Campaign Finance Act, the Foreign Intelligence Surveillance Act, the Independent Counsel Act, the Ethics in Government Act, and the Presidential Records Act. It was Pecora Commission’s work after the Wall Street Crash in 1929 that helped lay the ground work for the New Deal banking and securities reforms.





Likewise, I believe now is when much of the work to remedy the excesses of the most recent Imperial Presidency begins. That is why this Report recommends that the Judiciary Committee and the Congress pursue any unresolved subpoenas and document requests left over from the last Congress; that we create a “blue-ribbon” commission or similar select committee, along the lines of the 9/11 Commission, to investigate these matters and report to Congress, the President, and the public; and that the incoming Administration finally begin an independent criminal review of activities of the outgoing Administration, such as enhanced interrogation, extraordinary rendition, and domestic warrantless surveillance. These initiatives can and should work collectively and without prejudice to one another. The fact that Congress is pursuing responsible oversight should not impact any criminal investigations, just as the work of the Ervin Committee did not limit the prerogatives of Special Counsels Cox or Jaworski. As a matter of fact, information gleaned from one review could reinforce and galvanize others. While I understand there is a powerful desire to simply move on and focus on the many large issues facing us, we simply cannot sweep these matters under the rug of history without addressing them head on. As the world’s oldest democracy, I am certain we are strong enough to survive and even prosper from these proposed inquiries.





In addition to these threshold recommendations, the Report goes on to make a total of 47 policy recommendations. These range from passing laws regarding self-serving presidential pardons, helping to protect whistleblowers from retribution, and reforming our elections; as well as commencing executive and Justice Department actions to end torture and extraordinary rendition, close Guantanamo Bay, provide due process to detainees, end the use of abusive signing statements and assertions of state secrets, and end the selective declassification and manipulation of intelligence information.





Candidate Obama repeatedly and publicly spoke out against the violations of our Constitution perpetrated by the Bush Administration. It is my hope that these recommendations will help to ensure that President Obama follows through and rolls back those excesses, and restores the checks and balances that have made our nation strong. There remain numerous questions about the Bush Administration’s misdeeds, many of them described in the text that follows, and the more these facts are uncovered and aired, the stronger they will make our democracy.
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The Constitution has been sorely tested over the last eight years. But like the late Mr. Schlesinger, I am confident in our capacity to self-correct. Doing so will require much hard work and diligence, and that effort only continues with the release of this Report. Our work is far from complete.



 John Conyers, Jr. 
January 2009





Executive Summary

This Report has been prepared at the direction of Rep. John Conyers, Jr., Chairman of the House of Representatives Committee on the Judiciary. It was drafted to itemize and document the various abuses that occurred during the Bush Administration relating to the Committee’s review and jurisdiction, and to develop a comprehensive set of recommendations to prevent the recurrence of these or similar abuses in the future. This Report is being published initially on the internet, with a print version to come shortly.





The Report begins with a preface titled “Deconstructing the Imperial Presidency,” which describes and critiques the key war power memos that gave rise to the concept of broad-based, unreviewable, and secret presidential powers in time of war. These legal theories, many of which took seed shortly after September 11, 2001, rely on breathtaking assertions regarding the nature and scope of the so-called “global war on terror,” such as those set forth in an October 23, 2001, memorandum concluding that the president may order extensive military operations inside the United States. As the Report documents, these theories were relied on time and again in numerous other contexts by the Bush Administration over the next seven and one half years.





The next five sections of the Report describe specific abuses of the Imperial Presidency relating to Judiciary Committee inquiries. Section 1, “Politicization of the Department of Justice,” describes the Committee’s U.S. Attorneys investigation and concerns relating to the politicization of the Civil Rights Division in general and the Voting Rights Division in particular. Even as this report is being released, the Justice Department’s Offices of the Inspector General and Professional Responsibility have released a report further documenting politicized hiring and politicized decision-making in the Division. Section 2, “Assault on Individual Liberties,” broadly details Bush Administration policies relating to detention, enhanced interrogation, extraordinary rendition, ghosting and black sites, warrantless domestic surveillance, and the issuance of national security and exigent letters. Section 3, “Misuse of Executive Branch Authority,” describes concerns relating to signing statements and misuse of regulatory authorities. Section 4, “Retribution against Critics,” details the facts ascertained relating to the outing of former intelligence agent Valerie Plame Wilson, and other instances of improper retribution by the Bush Administration against its critics. Section 5, “Government in the Shadows,” describes multifaceted efforts of the Bush Administration to avoid accountability and culpability through a variety of legal techniques, including broad and unprecedented assertions of executive privilege, withholding testimony and information without formal assertion of privilege, extraordinary assertions of state secrets, broad uses of classification authorities, and unduly narrow construction of the Freedom of Information Act, as well as manipulation of intelligence in the run-up to the Iraq War. Each of these sections includes a comprehensive set of findings detailing specific legal and factual conclusions drawn from the review.





Section 6 of the Report sets forth a comprehensive set of 47 policy recommendations designed to respond to the abuses and excesses of the Bush Imperial Presidency. The list begins with three major threshold recommendations:



	First, that the Judiciary Committee pursue its document requests and subpoenas pending at the end of the 110th Congress.

	Second, that Congress create an independent blue ribbon commission or similar body to investigate the host of previously unreviewable activities of the Bush Administration, including detention, enhanced interrogation, extraordinary rendition, ghosting and black sites, and warrantless domestic electronic surveillance.

	Third, that the new Administration conduct an independent criminal inquiry into whether any laws were broken in connection with these activities.



In this regard, the Report firmly rejects the notion that we should move on from these matters simply because a new Administration is set to take office. This is because there never has been an independent, comprehensive review of these very serious allegations with a full report to the American public. The investigations to date have either been limited in scope or authority, hidden from the public and the Congress, or stonewalled or obstructed by the outgoing Administration behind impenetrable walls of classification and privilege. The purpose of the above-described investigations is not payback, but to uphold the rule of law, allow us to learn from our national mistakes, and prevent them from recurring. Such an effort would be a welcome sign to our friends, and a warning to our foes, that this Nation can indeed serve as a beacon of liberty and freedom without weakening our ability to combat terrorism or other threats.





The Report makes clear that even after scores of hearings, investigations, and reports, Congress and the American public still do not have answers to some of the most fundamental questions concerning the Bush Imperial Presidency. These include the following:



	Who created the U.S. Attorney firing list, and how were specific U.S. Attorneys included or excluded from the list?



After more than 13 House and Senate Judiciary committee hearings and depositions with over 12 witnesses, we still do not know who created the U.S. Attorney firing list and why. Witnesses testifying included then-Attorney General Alberto Gonzales, his Chief of Staff Kyle Sampson, Deputy Attorney General Paul McNulty, White House Liaison Monica Goodling, and every other senior Department of Justice official with a reported role in the matter, but none have accepted responsibility for creating the list. Then-Attorney General Gonzales, for example, claimed that he “was not involved in seeing any memos, was not involved in any discussions about what was going on,” and testified that he did not place the fired U.S. Attorneys on the list, even as he later claimed not to remember any details of the firings or the reasons those U.S. Attorneys were fired. He testified at one point that he regretted not having the Deputy Attorney General “directly involved” in the process, only to later assert that the one person he had relied upon “in particular” was the Deputy Attorney General. Mr. Gonzales defended his inability to recollect the facts by claiming that he had not spoken to key fact witnesses “to preserve the integrity” of the investigation, but Ms. Goodling said that the Attorney General had rehearsed his recollection of the facts with her.





Chairman Conyers has repeatedly stated that “the bread crumbs in this investigation have always led to 1600 Pennsylvania Avenue,” yet the White House has asserted a broad and unprecedented form of executive privilege and supposed immunity from subpoena to prevent Harriet Miers and Karl Rove from testifying and to justify the refusal by the White House and the Republican National Committee refusing to turn over relevant documents and e-mails. The Bush Administration has continued to stonewall even after House votes for contempt of Congress and a federal district court decision rejecting its legal position.


	2. Were any Laws Broken as a Result of the Enhanced Interrogation Tactics Engaged in by the Bush Administration?




Notwithstanding various internal reports by the Bush Administration and a number of investigations and hearings in the Congress (limited and constrained in many cases by Administration obstruction), there never has been a full and independent inquiry into whether there have been criminal violations of federal statutes prohibiting torture and war crimes. Consider the following exchange between Chairman Conyers and Attorney General Mukasey at a February 7, 2008, hearing concerning admitted instances of waterboarding, an interrogation method the Bush Administration belatedly acknowledged was unlawful:



Mr. Conyers: Well, are you ready to start a criminal investigation into whether this confirmed use of waterboarding by United States agents was illegal?



 Mr. Mukasey: No, I am not, for this reason: Whatever was done as part of a CIA program at the time that it was done was the subject of a Department of Justice opinion through the Office of Legal Counsel and was found to be permissible under law as it existed then.



Unanswered was how the Attorney General could know the waterboarding was done in good faith reliance on the OLC opinions and within any limits or constraints set by the Justice Department without first investigating the facts.





Consider also the following exchanges between Subcommittee Chairman Nadler, former Attorney General Aschroft, and Attorney General Mukasey at hearings on July 17, 2008, and July 23, 2008, respectively, concerning waterboarding:



Mr. Nadler: Attorney General Ashcroft, in your testimony you mentioned Abu Zubaydah, who was captured in March 2002. The Inspector General report on the FBI’s role in interrogation makes clear that he was interrogated beginning in march of that year. The Yoo-Bybee legal memo [approving CIA interrogation techniques] was not issued until August 2002. So was the interrogation of Abu Zubaydah before August 2002 done without DOJ legal approval?



 Mr. Ashcroft: I don’t know.



 Mr. Nadler: Well, did you offer legal approval of interrogation methods used at that time?



 Mr. Ashcroft: At what time, sir?



 Mr. Nadler: Prior to August of 2002, [in] March 2002.



 Mr. Ashcroft: I have no recollection of doing that at all.



 Mr. Nadler: ...Do you know if waterboarding was used on Abu Zubaydah before the DOJ approved it?



 Mr. Ashcroft: I do not.



Attorney General Mukasey was no more responsive:



Mr. Nadler: [I]t is now clear that one of the detainees, Abu Zubaydah, for example, was interrogated for months in the spring and summer of 2002, before the first OLC opinion and the issue we know of, the August 1, 2002, legal memo by John Yoo was issued.... have you or anyone at the Department investigated the legality of the interrogation methods used before the August 1 Yoo memo was issued?



 Mr. Mukasey: I have not investigated that myself. I think part of that question involves whether the methods employed were consistent with that memo or not, and I don’t know whether they were or they were not.



 Mr Nadler: Do you think someone should take a look at that?



 Mr. Mukasey: I think a look at that may very well be taken or have been taken. I am not specifically aware of it as I sit here.



 Mr. Nadler: Can you let us know?



 Mr. Mukasey: I will take a look.



The Committee has not heard back on the matter from the Attorney General.


	3. Were any Laws Broken as a Result of the Extraordinary Rendition Tactics Engaged in by the Bush Administration?




The Committee has uncovered considerable evidence of potential criminal culpability relating to the rendition of Maher Arar. This includes:



	A Department of Homeland Security Inspector General report found that Immigration and Naturalization Service (INS) officials had determined that it was “more likely than not” that Mr. Arar would be tortured if sent to Syria, but sent him anyway, even though the “assurances upon which INS based Mr. Arar’s removal were ambiguous regarding the source or authority purporting to bind the Syrian government to protect Arar.”

	The Inspector General also expressed concern about the speed with which Administration officials transferred Mr. Arar and about possible interference with his access to counsel. “The method of the notification of the [Convention Against Torture protection] interview to Mr. Arar’s attorneys and the notification’s proximity to the time of the interview [a phone message left at a work number at 4:30 p.m. on a Sunday for an interview that started at 9:00 p.m. that same Sunday night] were questionable.”

	Former Department of Homeland Security Inspector General Clark Ervin has also testified before the Committee that: “There is no question but that given everything we know, the intention here was to render him to Syria, as opposed to Canada, because of the certainty that he would be tortured in Syria and he would not be in Canada.”



While these troubling facts led to apologies to Mr. Arar by the Chairs and Ranking Members of the Judiciary Committee’s Subcommittee on the Constitution, Civil Rights, and Civil Liberties, and the Foreign Affairs Committee’s Subcommittee on Oversight, there has never been an adequate explanation as to why these facts have not warranted a criminal investigation.


	4. Were any Laws Broken as a Result of the the so-called “Terrorist Surveillance Program” and related activities?




There have been numerous efforts to obtain a judicial determination of the legality of the President’s warrantless domestic surveillance program. Among other things, the Electronic Frontier Foundation filed a lawsuit alleging that AT&T had collaborated with the NSA to engage in illegal surveillance (which became one of a series of consolidated cases challenging the program); the American Civil Liberties Union brought a suit alleging the program was unlawful; and Rep. Maurice Hinchey (D-NY) sought a Department of Justice Office of Professional Responsibility investigation into whether Department attorneys had violated their legal or ethical responsibilities in connection with the program.





Each and every one of these efforts has been obstructed by the Bush Administration. After unsuccesfully arguing that the Electronic Frontier Foundation suit should be dismissed as a result of the state secrets doctrine, the Bush Administration insisted that retroactive legal immunity for telcommunications companies involved in the program be included in recently enacted surveillance legislation. After a federal court in Michigan found the warrantless surveillance program to be unlawful, the Administration succeeded in having the decision reversed on appeal on procedural grounds. The Department’s internal investigation died in early 2006 after President Bush denied the investigators the necessary security clearances (the investigation was belatedly revived by the new Attorney General last year, but only after substantial time on the relevant statutes of limitations had elapsed).


	5. To what extent were President Bush and Vice President Cheney involved in the outing of Valerie Plame Wilson and its aftermath?




There is considerable evidence that culpability for the outing of Valerie Plame Wilson and subsequent obstruction goes above and beyond Scooter Libby. We have learned the following as a result of the Special Counsel and congressional investigations, and the trial and conviction of the Vice President’s former Chief of Staff I. Lewis Libby:



	Mr. Libby’s notes from on or before June 11, 2003, reveal that the Vice President informed Mr. Libby that Ambassador Wilson’s wife, Valerie Plame Wilson, worked in the Central Intelligence Agency’s Counterproliferation Division.

	That same day, Cathie Martin, Assistant to the Vice President for Public Affairs, learned that Ambassador Wilson’s wife worked at the CIA, and she relayed that information to Mr. Cheney and Mr. Libby during a meeting in the Vice President’s office.

	A few weeks later, on or about July 6, 2003, Mr. Cheney clipped Ambassador Wilson’s New York Times op-ed questioning the Bush Administration’s Iraquranium claim and, in his own hand, wrote the following rhetorical note conspicously above its title: “Have they [i.e., the CIA] done this sort of thing before? Send an ambassador to answer a question... Or did his wife send him on a junket?”

	The next day, Ms. Martin e-mailed White House Press Secretary Ari Fleischer with talking points on the Niger trip by Mr. Cheney. He subsequently dictated a revised set of talking points that Ms. Martin circulated to the press. It has been reported that the FBI’s summary of the Special Counsel’s inteview with Vice President Cheney reflects that he “was at a loss to explain how the change of the talking points focusing attention on who specifically sent Wilson to Niger would not lead... to exposure” of Valerie Plame Wilson’s identity.

	In the early fall of 2003, Mr. Cheney wrote a note to himself on the unfairness of Mr. Libby, alone among White House staffers, having been asked to “stick his neck in the meat grinder” in connection with the White House’s response to Ambassador Wilson’s op-ed.

	Mr. Libby’s key disclosure of Ms. Plame Wilson’s identity to New York Times reporter Judith Miller occurred during a meeting arranged at the behest of the Vice President.

	A redacted report of the FBI’s interview with Mr. Libby that the Justice Department allowed the staff of the House Oversight Committee to review reflects that Mr. Libby told the FBI that “it was ‘possible’ that Vice President Cheney instructed him to disseminate information about Ambassador Wilson’s wife to the press.”



While this and other evidence strongly suggests vice presidential and/or presidential involvement, complete understanding of this matter has been obstructed by both the President’s assertion of executive privilege and threatened assertion to deny the Oversight and Government Reform Committee and the Judiciary Committee access to relevant information, and by Mr. Libby’s lies to FBI interviewers and the grand jury convened to investigate the leak. As Special Counsel Fitzgerald emphasized during his closing argument, Mr. Libby’s lies put a “cloud over what the Vice President did” immediately following the publication of Ambassador Wilson’s op-ed.





Given that so many significant questions remain unanswered relating to these core constitutional and legal matters, many of which implicate basic premises of our national honor, it seems clear that our country cannot simply move on. As easy or convenient as it would be to turn the page, our Nation’s respect for the rule of law and its role as a moral leader in the world demand that we finally and without obstruction conduct and complete these inquiries. This can and should be done without rancor or partisanship.
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This Report could not have been completed absent the hearings and investigatory work undertaken by other committees, and their work is relied upon and cited throughout. In particular, this Report includes the work of the Senate Judiciary Committee, the House and Senate Select Committees on Intelligence, the House and Senate Armed Services Committees, the House Oversight and Government Reform Committee, and the House Foreign Relations Committee (which held a series of hearings in conjunction with the House Judiciary Committee). The work of the many diligent Inspectors General was also vital to the Committee’s work, including in particular the Department of Justice Inspector General’s office.





Preface: Deconstructing the Imperial Presidency

In the Founders’ view, the “blessings of liberty” were threatened by “those military establishments which must gradually poison its very fountain.” ...Except for the actual command of military forces, all authorization for their maintenance and all explicit authorization for their use is placed in the control of Congress under Article I, rather than the President under Article II.



 – Justice Antonin Scalia in Hamdi v. Rumsfeld. 1





“Imperial Presidency” is a term used to embody a fervently held anti-democratic belief system, rooted in a constitutionally unsupportable view of the president’s power vis-à-vis the Congress, the courts, and the people of the United States.





The Imperial Presidency of George W. Bush – constructed and enforced by Vice President Dick Cheney and his chief legal advisor David Addington,2 given legal veneer in Department of Justice Office of Legal Counsel opinions by Deputy Assistant Attorney General John C. Yoo, and endorsed by White House Counsel and later Attorney General Alberto Gonzales – has been characterized by the determined effort to arrogate for the president vast uncheckable power in large spheres of government action, coupled with the equally determined willingness to do battle with the courts and Congress for the president’s right to maintain these prerogatives. For the president to seek legislative authorization from Congress, rather than simply act unilaterally (on detention policy, for example), was scorned as “giv[ing] away the President’s power.”3 Even the Republican-controlled Congress was viewed by David Addington with hostility for the potential threat it posed to the president’s ability to act unilaterally.4 The determined insistence that the pesident had the right to go it alone was typified by Mr. Addington’s statement: “We’re going to push and push and push until some larger force makes us stop.”5





Among the most far-reaching instances of President Bush’s arrogation of power are actions he took in the aftermath of the terror attacks of September 11, 2001. Here, as will be set forth in greater detail, President Bush relied on extreme – and secret – interpretations of his constitutional powers to implement aggressive and far-reaching policies relating to detention, interrogation, and electronic surveillance. Whenever these actions have been exposed and challenged in court, the courts have generally held them to be unconstitutional – or constitutional only to the extent they were authorized by Congress.





President Bush has similarly “pushed and pushed” for presidential power vis-à-vis Congress and the courts in other significant areas of activity. For example, he has stonewalled legitimate congressional requests for information, going so far as to assert that his White House advisors need not so much as show up in response to congressional subpoenas – even in instances where there are no communications with the President involved that might support an assertion of executive privilege. He has also taken the position that, simply by issuing a “signing statement” at the time he signs a bill into law, he may excuse himself from his responsibility under the Constitution to “take care that the laws be faithfully executed.”6





A cornerstone of the legal rationale contrived to support the Imperial Presidency has been a radically expansive view of the president’s constitutional authority as Commander in Chief. The Bush Administration has asserted that the Commander-in-Chief power extends far beyond the battlefield, and that any action he takes under claim of that power, in whatever arena, is presumptively considered the equivalent to ordering the movements of troops on the battlefield, and thus can neither be limited by Congress nor reviewed by the courts. According to this view, the president alone defines the scope of circumstances in which he may exercise these Commander in Chief powers, even in connection with a “war” that has no limitation in either geographical location or duration – the conflict may be world-wide, including within U.S. borders, and may extend potentially forever.





Under this view, for example, President Bush has claimed the power to label American citizens and lawfully admitted aliens as “enemy combatants,” and on that basis to seize them in the United States; hold them in military custody, in solitary confinement, without access to an attorney or any meaningful opportunity to challenge the evidentiary basis for their detention; and subject them to harsh interrogation methods, including methods condemned as torture under settled international law, and try them in closed military commissions instead of in a court of law, all in flagrant disregard of Fifth Amendment due process protections. He has also claimed the power to wiretap and record the conversations of American citizens, without obeying the Fourth Amendment requirement to obtain a warrant to do so.





Moreover, under this view, the president is not even required to inform the courts or Congress of the legal basis for asserting that his decisions are unreviewable, or the classes of decisions covered, or the definition of the “battlefield” on which these decisions operate. Rather, the decisions as to such issues of human liberty as detention, interrogation methods, and surveillance can be justified by secret internal memoranda. In effect, this view gives the president license to operate under secret interpretations of his powers, even inside the United States, and even against United States citizens.





The bare text of the Constitution says nothing about the extent of the president’s Commander in Chief powers; it says only that the president “shall be Commander in Chief of the Army and Navy of the United States.”7 But such an expansive view of these powers as articulated by the Bush Administration could render the rest of the Constitution null, eviscerating the separation of powers structure designed to limit Executive power, and trampling the Bill of Rights.





The ambitious reach of the Bush Administration’s imperial vision, the audacity with which it was pursued, and the extent to which its pursuit was acquiesced in, is unprecedented in our Nation’s history. But the imperial impulse – and the dangers it poses to democracy, the rule of law, the public welfare, and international peace – are all too familiar to students of world history. The Founders had ready examples from their own era, beginning with King George III of England.8 Keenly mindful of these dangers when they met in Philadelphia to draft our Constitution, the Founders carefully devised a system of checks and balances among the three Branches so as to restrain the imperial tendencies of the Executive.





After laying largely dormant for the first six years of the Bush Presidency, that system of checks and balances is now seeing new vigor. In the 110th Congress, over the past two years, the House Committee on the Judiciary, along with other Committees in both Houses of Congress, has endeavored to uncover, shine a light on, and correct the imperial excesses of the Bush Presidency, including its policies and practices in areas ranging from detention, interrogation, and rendition to electronic surveillance, to signing statements, as well as the improper politicization of federal law enforcement and its overall proclivity to secrecy.





The results to date of this endeavor are described in this Report. It will be left for others to describe the damage the Imperial Presidency has done to our standing in the world of nations; this Report focuses on the damage it has done to our constitutional values, and on what must be done to restore those values to their rightful place in our government.





Already, the harshest interrogation technique known to have been employed under the direction of Bush Administration officials – waterboarding – has been confirmed by Administration officials in testimony before Congress in 2008,9 and Vice President Cheney himself has now admitted having given his support to its use.10 Though the legislation updating the Foreign Intelligence Surveillance Act (FISA) is in many respects problematic, it does include features designed to ensure the primacy of the Legislative and Judicial Branches in formulating and ensuring compliance with appropriate procedures and safeguards for electronic surveillance of American citizens. Congressional investigation into the improper politicization of the Justice Department appears to have been a factor leading to the resignation of a number of key Department and White House officials, apparently bringing a halt to this corrupting influence on federal law enforcement, and the role of various White House officials is still under active investigation.





Although Congress and the courts have awakened to reassert their proper constitutional roles in the functioning of the federal government – particularly in connection with the protection of individual liberties against encroachment by the Executive Branch – further action and continued vigilance are needed. To promote and assist in those efforts, this Report reviews the rise of the Imperial Presidency in the Bush Administration, describes the response in Congress and the courts during the past two years, and sets forth recommendations as to how to restore Constitutional balance and maintain it in the future.





Benjamin Franklin, as he emerged from Independence Hall on the final day of the Constitutional Convention’s deliberations, was reported to have replied when asked what kind of government the people were getting: “A republic – if you can keep it.”

This preface provides a prelude to the overall report. It does so by honing in on the initial set of expansive legal opinions stating that the president had essential, unreviewable powers in innumerable aspects of our nation’s legal policy during a time of armed conflict. These views began to take root shortly after the September 11 terrorist attacks.


The September 25, 2001, War Powers Memorandum

In the immediate aftermath of the September 11, 2001, terrorist attacks, President Bush sought authorization from Congress to use military force against those responsible for the attacks. There was little question that this use of military force was appropriate and would be authorized. Simultaneously, however, there were immediate efforts – through Vice President Cheney and David Addington – to exploit the events of 9/11, and the fact that the country was rallying behind the President, to claim for the president broad powers that went far beyond any targeted response to the 9/11 attacks.





The initial White House draft for a proposed congressional resolution authorizing the President to use military force, submitted to Congress on September 12, 2001, the day after the attacks, would have authorized the President not only to use military force to attack those responsible for the 9/11 attacks but, in addition, “to deter and pre-empt any future acts of terrorism or aggression against the United States.”11 This latter purpose, of using force to deter and pre-empt aggression has been described as being of “inescapable elasticity,” because nearly any military action can be asserted or rationalized as being taken with this goal in mind.12 This request to Congress, made within a day or two of the 9/11 attacks, embodies what became the Administration’s “pre-emption” rationale for the use of military force against Iraq 18 months later; indeed, as will be discussed, it may have been intended at that time to justify an attack on Iraq as a purported response to the 9/11 attacks.





According to Senator Tom Daschle, Senate Majority Leader at the time, the Bush Administration also sought authority to use war powers within the domestic United States. In the form in which the resolution came to the Senate floor, it authorized the President to “use all necessary and appropriate force against those nations, organizations, or persons he determines planned, authorized, committed, or aided the terrorist attacks that occurred on September 11, 2001.” But as Senator Daschle recounted:


Literally minutes before the Senate cast its vote, the Administration sought to add the words “in the United States and” after “appropriate force” in the agreed-upon text. This last-minute change would have given the president broad authority to exercise expansive powers not just overseas – where we all understood he wanted authority to act – but right here in the United States, potentially against American citizens. I could see no justification for Congress to accede to this extraordinary request for additional authority. I refused.13


Ultimately, neither of these two requests for additional, extraordinary authorization – to use military force for pre-emption and deterrence, and to use military force inside the United States – was included in the final version of the Act. As signed into law on September 18, 2001, the Authorization for the Use of Military Force (AUMF) authorized the President to:


use all necessary and appropriate force against those nations, organizations, or persons he determines planned, authorized, committed, or aided the terrorist attacks that occurred on September 11, 2001, or harbored such organizations or persons, in order to prevent any future acts of international terrorism against the United States by such nations, organizations or persons.14


Congress cited the War Powers Act in authorizing the President to use military force for the specified purposes set forth in the AUMF.15





Despite the fact that Congress declined to endorse either of these additional authorizations in the AUMF per the Administration’s request, a memorandum prepared by Deputy Assistant Attorney General John Yoo16 in the Justice Department’s Office of Legal Counsel, dated September 25, 2001, less than a week after the President signed the AUMF into law, flatly asserted that the president possessed this authority inherently.17





In setting forth the legal basis for the use of military force in response to the 9/11 attacks, the memorandum, titled “The President’s Constitutional Authority to Conduct Military Operations Against Terrorists and Nations Supporting Them,” asserted that the president possessed nearly unlimited power in any matter that touched war policy in response to the 9/11 attacks, and explicitly rejected any constitutional role for Congress in that sphere of action. Notwithstanding the clear intent of Congress in the development of the AUMF, this War Powers Memorandum asserted that the president had authority to take military action against nations having nothing to do with the 9/11 attacks (such as Iraq) under a deterrence/pre-emption rationale, as well as authority to use military power inside the United States – subject to no congressional limitations on his exercise of these powers.





To fully appreciate the intended reach of that memorandum, it is important to remember that at the time it was written, numerous voices inside of and close to the Bush Administration expressed substantial interest in attacking Iraq as part of the response to the 9/11 attacks, even though there was little evidence that Iraq had any involvement in those attacks.18 The 9/11 Commission, for example, in its report summarized its interviews with National Security Advisor Condoleeza Rice and Secretary of State Colin Powell in which they discussed the efforts of others (primarily Deputy Secretary of Defense Wolfowitz) to pursue an attack on Iraq:


According to Rice, the issue of what, if anything, to do about Iraq was really engaged at Camp David. Briefing papers on Iraq, along with many others, were in briefing materials for the participants. Rice told us the Administration was concerned that Iraq would take advantage of the 9/11 attacks. She recalled that in the first Camp David session chaired by the President, Rumsfeld asked what the Administration should do about Iraq. Deputy Secretary Wolfowitz made the case for striking Iraq during “this round” of the war on terrorism.
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Secretary Powell recalled that Wolfowitz – not Rumsfeld – argued that Iraq was ultimately the source of the terrorist problem and should therefore be attacked... Powell said that Wolfowitz was not able to justify his belief that Iraq was behind 9/11. “Paul was always of the view that Iraq was a problem that had to be dealt with,” Powell told us. “And he saw this as one way of using this event as a way to deal with the Iraq problem.”19


Mr. Yoo started his War Powers Memorandum with a discussion of presidential power in general, distinguishing the “legislative” powers of Congress from the “executive”powers of the president. Under this dichotomy, the president was the “exclusive” determiner as to the use of military force, and Congress had no role in these decisions: “[C]ongress’s legislative powers are limited to the list enumerated in Article I, section 8, while the president’s powers include inherent executive powers that are unenumerated in the Constitution. In that “the decision to deploy military force is ‘executive’ in nature,” Mr. Yoo asserted, it is “exclusively entrusted to the president.”20





Mr. Yoo characterized Congress’s passage of the AUMF as merely “demonstrat[ing] Congress’s acceptance of the president’s unilateral war power in an emergency situation like that created by the September 11 incidents.”21 Any perceived limitations on executive power set forth in the AUMF (in authorizing military force only against those who attacked the United States and in rejecting the request that the military powers could be used inside the United States) were dismissed. Mr. Yoo was explicit in his view that the president’s power was broader than Congress’s authorization, and included the power to engage in a “pre-emptive” war (the subsequent rationale for invading Iraq) against foreign states or actors having nothing to do with 9/11, and for which military actions had not been authorized by Congress:


[T]he Joint Resolution [i.e., the AUMF] is somewhat narrower than the President’s constitutional authority. The Joint Resolution’s authorization to use force is limited only to those individuals, groups, or states that planned, authorized, committed, or aided the attacks, and those nations that harbored them. It does not, therefore, reach other terrorist individuals, groups, or states, which cannot be determined to have links to the September 11 attacks. Nonetheless, the President’s broad constitutional power to use military force to defend the Nation, recognized by the Joint Resolution itself, would allow the President to take whatever actions he deems appropriate to pre-empt or respond to terrorist threats from new quarters.22


Further, even though Congress specifically rejected the President’s request for authorization to use military authority within the United States, Mr. Yoo asserted that the president had inherent authority to use that power “at home or overseas”:


Military actions need not be limited to those individuals, groups, or states that participated in the attacks on the World Trade Center and the Pentagon: the Constitution vests the President with the power to strike terrorist groups or organizations that cannot be demonstrably linked to the September 11 incidents, but that, nonetheless, pose a similar threat to the security of the United States and the lives of its people, whether at home or overseas.23


Though inside the Justice Department and the White House, the AUMF was regarded as a legal irrelevancy, and the Congress that enacted it as an impediment to be evaded, Mr. Yoo publically praised the AUMF, and stressed its importance, with no hint that its limitations were being flouted. Consider, for example, his statements in a 2007 interview:



Q: Is there any controversial element to [the authorization obtained from Congress in the AUMF]?



 Mr. Yoo: No. In fact, I don’t think so. It’s passed by large majorities of the House and Senate. And remember the Senate [at] this time is controlled by Democrats, and so we spent a lot of time negotiating with them about the exact language, but the finished product is a consensus document. The statute says use all necessary means to stop future terrorist attacks and to find those responsible for the past attacks. It’s an extremely broad statute, but Congress knew what it was doing. I know that for a fact because we negotiated very closely with them about the wording.24



Similarly, it is not without some irony that the Justice Department would ultimately rely on the AUMF to claim, when the Administration’s detention policies later came under legal challenge, that they were undertaken pursuant to congressional authorization.25





Consistent with the expansive view of presidential war powers, when President Bush ordered the use of military force against al Qaeda in October 2001, he did not cite the AUMF as authority for that action. His letter informing Congress of his use of force in Afghanistan stated only that he “appreciate[d] the continuing support of Congress, including its enactment of [the AUMF].” Aside from this passing reference, his letter made clear that he was relying solely on his Constitutional power as Commander in Chief.


I have taken these actions pursuant to my constitutional authority to conduct U.S. foreign relations as Commander in Chief and Chief Executive. It is not possible to know at this time either the duration of combat operations or the scope and duration of the deployment of U.S. Armed Forces necessary to counter the terrorist threat to the United States. As I have stated previously, it is likely that the American campaign against terrorism will be lengthy. I will direct such additional measures as necessary in exercise of our right to self-defense and to protect U.S. citizens and interests.



 I am providing this report as part of my efforts to keep the Congress informed, consistent with the War Powers Resolution and Public Law 107-40. Officials of my Administration and I have been communicating regularly with the leadership and other members of Congress, and we will continue to do so. I appreciate the continuing support of the Congress, including its enactment of Public Law 107-40, in these actions to protect the security of the United States of America and its citizens, civilian and military, here and abroad.26



The assertions of unreviewable presidential power as Commander in Chief would be advanced time and again in the context of specific presidential actions. For example, in connection with the use of military commissions (November 2001):


[U]nder 10 U.S.C § 821 and his inherent powers as Commander in Chief, the President may establish military commissions to try and punish terrorists apprehended as part of the investigation into, or in military and intelligence operations in response to, the September 11 attacks... Indeed, if § 821 were read as restricting the use of military commissions and prohibiting practices traditionally followed, it would infringe on the President’s express constitutional powers as Commander in Chief.27


In connection with whether the War Crimes Act could constrain the president in the conduct of military activity (January 2002):


The [War Crimes Act] regulates the manner in which the U.S. Armed Forces may conduct military operations against the enemy; as such, it potentially comes into conflict with the President’s Commander in Chief power under Article II of the Constitution. As we have advised others earlier in this conflict, the Commander in Chief power gives the President the plenary authority in determining how best to deploy troops in the field. Any congressional effort to restrict presidential authority by subjecting the conduct of the U.S. Armed Forces to a broad construction of the Geneva Convention, one that is not clearly borne by its text, would represent a possible infringement on presidential discretion to direct the military.28


In connection with whether the federal torture statute could constrain the president in his choice of interrogation methods (August 2002):


Even if an interrogation method arguably were to violate [18 U.S.C. § 2340A, the felony prohibition against torture], the statute would be unconstitutional if it impermissibly encroached on the President’s constitutional power to conduct a military campaign. As Commander-in-Chief, the President has the constitutional authority to order interrogations of enemy combatants to gain intelligence information concerning the military plans of the enemy... Any effort to apply Section 2340A in a manner that interferes with the President’s direction of such core war matters as the detention and interrogation of enemy combatants thus would be unconstitutional.29


Regarding applicability of the criminal torture statute (March 2003):


[F]ederal criminal laws of general applicability do not apply to properly-authorized interrogations of enemy combatants, undertaken by military personnel in the course of an armed conflict. Such criminal statutes, if they were misconstrued to apply to the interrogation of enemy combatants, would conflict with the Constitution’s grant of the Commander in Chief power solely to the President.30


It was this expansive view of the president’s supreme, inherent powers that Vice President Cheney, David Addington, and John Yoo “pushed and pushed” – all the way to the Supreme Court.




Critique of John Yoo’s Flawed Theory of Presidential Supremacy

It would be difficult to overstate how profoundly flawed the Yoo/Addington/Cheney theories of presidential supremacy are vis-à-vis the power of Congress and the courts. At their core, these theories rest on a fictionalized version of American history – one in which the Revolutionary War was fought to give the president near monarchical, uncheckable powers over foreign affairs and the use of the military; the Constitution was constructed to provide carefully limited powers to Congress but unlimited powers to the president; the president, by merely claiming that a decision touched on the exercise of military power, would enjoy nearly unfettered power to deprive United States citizens of liberties protected by the Bill of Rights, with the Congress and the courts essentially powerless to stop him.





Mr. Yoo has attempted to dismiss his critics by caricaturing them, claiming that they would have Congress micro-manage a war’s execution;31 or that “the left” is seeking, as part of its “campaign against the war,” to have every captured terrorist given Miranda warnings.32 But his notions contradict every reasonable understanding of the American experience as colonies, the events leading to the Declaration of Independence and the Revolutionary War, the intent of the Framers, and the structure and plain text of the Constitution.





Out of the wealth of writings of the Framers, many in contexts having nothing to do with war powers, there are a number of opportunities for Mr. Yoo to isolate a sentence here or there to bolster his radical contentions.33 Refuting those contentions involves a more thoughtful study of the Federalist Papers, the full writings of Alexander Hamilton and James Madison, the experiences of the colonists with King George III that animated the Framers’ concerns regarding executive power, and the seminal Supreme Court opinions from the late 1700s and early 1800s, to carefully divine the fundamental principles that remain relevant more than 200 years later.





Mr. Yoo’s writings have received widespread scholarly criticism based on such study. For purposes of this Report, the following can be distilled: Mr. Yoo utterly disregarded important colonial and revolutionary experience against which the Constitution was written – a stance which led him to grossly misread the legal principles that have developed in that historical context. In particular, he failed to recognize that the Constitution explicitly grants Congress broad powers for the very purpose of checking the president, including in the sphere of war and foreign affairs. His claim that the Constitution gives the president vast “inherent” powers, while Congress’s powers are limited to those enumerated, simply cannot withstand scrutiny.





For example, Mr. Yoo’s treatment, in the September 25, 2001, War Powers Memorandum, of Alexander Hamilton’s statement on the virtues of “energy in the executive... for protection of the community against foreign attacks” to support his assertion that the president has exclusive power in the realms of war, foreign policy, and national defense provides a useful example of his flawed approach. He wrote:


Our reading of the text [of the Constitution] is reinforced by analysis of the constitutional structure. First, it is clear that the Constitution secures all federal executive power in the President to ensure a unity in purpose and energy in action. “Decision, activity, secrecy, and dispatch will generally characterize the proceedings of one man in a much more eminent degree than the proceedings of any greater number.” [The Federalist No. 70 (Alexander Hamilton).] The centralization of authority in the President alone is particularly crucial in matters of national defense, war, and foreign policy, where a unitary executive can evaluate threats, consider policy choices, and mobilize national resources with a speed and energy that is superior to any other branch. As Hamilton noted, “Energy in the executive is a leading character in the definition of good government. It is essential to the protection of the community against foreign attacks.” [Id.] This is not less true in war. “Of all the cares or concerns government, the direction of war most peculiarly demands those qualities which distinguish the exercise of power by a single hand.”’ [The Federalist No. 74 (Alexander Hamilton).]34


Mr. Yoo’s analysis here is flawed in a number of important respects. To begin with, he relies on Federalist No. 70, a writing that is primarily devoted to the proposition that the Executive should be a single individual rather than several individuals or a council. This is the “unity” and “energy” that Hamilton is referencing, and the concern is simply that it would be dissipated if the executive powers were to reside in more than one person. Federalist No. 70 does not speak to the “unity” of the president’s power in military matters or foreign affairs powers to the exclusion of Congress; indeed, it does not address the allocation of war or foreign affairs powers between Congress and the president at all.





Hamilton specifically discusses the president’s war powers in Federalist No. 69, the immediate preceding writing, well known to all who have dispassionately studied this issue, though not even mentioned by Mr. Yoo. In that writing, Hamilton stresses the limitations on the president’s war power, emphasizing that the president is not to have monarchical-type powers in the use of the military. Here, as elsewhere in our constitutional republic, the “energy” required of the Executive is to carry out the law as duly enacted, not to autocratically make the law.





Likewise, Hamilton’s reference to the direction of a war requiring a “single hand” is no more than another reference to the proposition that the Commander in Chief should be a single individual. This understanding is unambiguous from examining the context in which the reference was written. A preceding sentence in the very paragraph of Federalist No. 69 from which Mr. Yoo extracts the “single hand” sentence mentions that the state constitutions place military power with the governor – that is, a “single hand” – and not an executive council of some sort. “Even those of them [states], which have in other respects coupled the Chief Magistrate [i.e., the governor] with a Council, have, for the most part concentrated the military authority in him alone.” No fair reading of the passage from which this phrase is excerpted supports the notion that Hamilton was advocating that absolute authority related to war should be placed in the hand of the president to the exclusion of Congress.

In Federalist No. 69, Hamilton sought to reassure the public, which had so recently suffered under the military adventurism and abuses of the British monarchy – by including, prominently, a discussion of the military abuses that precipitated the Declaration of Independence,35 and by stressing that the Constitution would constrain the president’s incentives to exercise military authority by placing that authority in check by Congress:36


The President is to be commander-in-chief of the army and navy of the United States. In this respect his authority would be nominally the same with that of the king of Great Britain, but in substance much inferior to it. It would amount to nothing more than the supreme command and direction of the miliary and naval forces, as first General and admiral of the Confederacy.
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The one [the president] would have a right to command the military and naval forces of the nation: The other [the King] in addition to this right, possesses that of declaring war, and of raising and regulating fleets and armies by his own authority. The one [the president] would have a concurrent power with a branch of the Legislature in the formation of treaties: The other is the sole possessor of the power to making treaties...37


To this end, the Constitution provided to Congress – not the president – nearly each and every pertinent power which bears directly on the execution of war, with the sole exception of the Commander-in-Chief power. These included the power to:



	“provide for the common Defence and general Welfare of the United States,”

	“regulate Commerce with foreign Nations, and among the several States, and with the Indian Tribes,”

	“define and punish Piracies and Felonies committed on the high Seas, and Offenses against the Law of Nations;”

	“declare War, grant Letters of Marque and Reprisal, and make Rules concerning Captures on Land and Water,”

	“raise and support Armies, but no Appropriation of Money to that Use shall be for a longer Term than two Years,”

	“provide and maintain a Navy,”

	“make Rules for the Government and Regulation of the land and naval Forces,”

	“provide for calling forth the Militia to execute the Laws of the Union, suppress Insurrections and repel Invasions,”

	“provide for organizing, arming, and disciplining the Militia, and for governing such Part of them as may be employed in the Service of the United States, reserving to the States respectively, the Appointment of the Officers, and the Authority of training the Militia according to the discipline prescribed by Congress.”38




To the same end, the Constitution even provided that negotiating treaties and appointing ambassadors – core “executive”- type powers in the sphere of foreign affairs – would require concurrence by the Senate.39 And inclusion of the Third Amendment in the Bill of Rights, prohibiting the quartering of soldiers in private homes, is yet another indication of the Framers’ concern with the potential for the president to abuse his military authority, and of the intent to check its exercise.





Justice Scalia relied on the guidance of the Framers in dissenting in the Hamdi case, on the basis that the Government’s unconstitutional detention of a United States citizen in military custody without access to counsel or habeas corpus required that the appeals court’s contrary holding be not merely vacated, but reversed:



The proposition that the Executive lacks indefinite wartime detention authority over citizens is consistent with the Founders’ general mistrust of military power permanently at the Executive’s disposal. In the Founders’ view, the “blessings of liberty” were threatened by “those military establishments which must gradually poison its very fountain.” [The Federalist No. 45, (J. Madison).] No fewer than 10 issues of the Federalist were devoted in whole or part to allaying fears of oppression from the proposed Constitution’s authorization of standing armies in peacetime... Except for the actual command of military forces, all authorization for their maintenance and all explicit authorization for their use is placed in the control of Congress under Article I, rather than the President under Article II. As Hamilton explained, the President’s military authority would be “much inferior” to that of the British King:



 It would amount to nothing more than the supreme command and direction of the military and naval forces, as first general and admiral of the confederacy: while that of the British king extends to the declaring of war, and to the raising and regulating of fleets and armies; all which, by the constitution under consideration, would appertain to the legislature.” [The Federalist No. 69.]



 A view of the Constitution that gives the Executive authority to use military force rather than the force of law against citizens on American soil flies in the face of the mistrust that engendered these provisions.40



Perhaps the most fundamental expression of the Framer’s intent is that the Constitution allocates to Congress the power to declare war. Mr. Yoo attempts to dismiss the Framers’ decision to give Congress this most central and critical power, on which all other war powers rest, by asserting that it is meant only to give Congress the right to recognize the existence of a war, not the authority to decide that war should be waged.41 But James Madison refuted any such notion in 1793:


Those who are to conduct a war cannot in the nature of things, be proper or safe judges, [of] whether a war ought to be commenced, continued, or concluded. They are barred from the latter functions by a great principle in free government, analogous to that which separates the sword from the purse, or the power of execution from the power of enacting laws.42


In a letter to Thomas Jefferson, Madison emphasized that the Constitution “supposes, what the History of all Gov[ernmen]ts demonstrates, that the Ex[ecutive] is the branch of power most interested in war, & most prone to it. It has accordingly with studied care, vested the question of war in the Legisl[ature].”43





One historian has referred to Mr. Yoo’s effort to minimize the significance of the Declare War Clause of the Constitution as an example of his “fictionalizing of the founding period”:


Yoo’s fictionalizing of the founding period is best exemplified by his lengthy discussion of the August 17, 1787, debate at the Constitutional Convention in Philadelphia. The surviving notes of this debate are admittedly garbled, cryptic and open to interpretation. But two things come through with ringing clarity. First, the word “declare,” as the Framers used it, had a loose and fluctuating meaning. Second, most participants in the discussion agreed on the importance of limiting the President’s war powers by granting important war powers to Congress. This consensus stemmed from a conviction that war is the nurse of executive aggrandizement and that the President, whose powers balloon unnaturally in wartime, has a dangerous incentive to contrive and publicize bogus pretexts for war.44


The historical record could not be more abundantly clear: The Framers, concerned that the president would have incentives toward military adventurism, carefully constructed the Constitution to assure that Congress – on behalf of the people – would have the power to keep the president’s war-making and related foreign affairs powers in check. In attempting to make a case for his contrary assertions, Mr. Yoo ignores the entire sweep of history of the colonial era and the events leading to the Revolutionary War and the Constitution, including, prominently, the military abuses by the King that precipitated that War.





Mr. Yoo’s corollary assertion that the executive power vested in the president in Article II of the Constitution includes unspecified inherent and implied powers, while the legislative power vested in the Congress under Article I is limited to the enumerated powers, is likewise unsupportable upon examination. Mr. Yoo asserts that:


Article II, Section 1 provides that “[t]he executive Power shall be vested in a President of the United States.”... This difference in language indicates that Congress’s legislative powers are limited to the list enumerated in Article I, section 8, while the President’s powers include inherent executive powers that are unenumerated in the Constitution.45


But the notion that the Constitution’s enumeration of relatively few powers to the president should be read to imply expansive unenumerated powers, while the Constitution’s enumeration of a far greater range of powers to Congress should be considered as a general limit on congressional power to act, makes little sense – especially where so many of the powers given to Congress can readily be seen as specifically intended to check presidential power – including in matters of war and foreign affairs.





Article II does, in fact, enumerate several specific responsibilities for the president. These powers include being Commander in Chief of the Army and Navy, having the authority to require the opinion of inferior officers in the Executive Branch, granting pardons, making treaties (with advice and consent of the Senate), appointing inferior officers, and, importantly, “tak[ing] Care that the Laws be faithfully executed.” If, as Mr. Yoo claims, the Constitution granted inherent and unenumerated powers to the president by virtue of its vesting the president with the “executive Power,” this enumeration of specific powers would be unnecessary.





In an effort to reconcile his contradictory assertions, Mr. Yoo posits that “the enumeration in Article II marks the points at which several traditional executive powers were diluted or reallocated [to Congress]. Any other, unenumerated executive powers, however, were conveyed to the President by the Vesting Clause.”46 This is not only the obviously strained construct of a sophist, however; it is easily refuted on its own terms, by noting that there are certain enumerated executive powers that are allocated wholly to the president, without any “dilution” – such as the power to pardon, or to employ inferior officers and secure advice from them.

More broadly, this strained construct overlooks the plain text of the Constitution. The Constitution does, indeed, speak to the allocation of residual, unenumerated power – to the Legislative Branch. Article I, section 8, the “Necessary and Proper Clause,” gives Congress the power:


To make all Laws which shall be necessary and proper for carrying into Execution the foregoing Powers, and all other Powers vested by this Constitution in the Government of the United States, or in any Department or Officer thereof.47


While there have been situations in which an unenumerated power must reasonably be implied in order to give effect to an enumerated power, and there may be others in the future, these judgments should be approached with due caution and humility, keeping in mind the Constitution’s strong structural presumption against implicit Executive power.





Finally, as to Mr. Yoo’s efforts to marginalize the courts, his assertion that the Constitution does not provide a role for the courts in checking the president’s war powers is likewise flawed and manifestly contradicted by seminal Supreme Court decisions from the first decades of the Republic. Finding that assertion in a law review article Mr. Yoo had published in 199648 prompted Constitutional historian Louis Fisher to question how a competent law student editing Mr. Yoo’s piece could have let it slip through:


Looking initially at the first two decades, the student would have discovered the decisions of the Supreme Court in Bas v. Tingy (1800), Talbot v. Seeman (1801) and Little v. Barreme (1804), where the Court looked exclusively to Congress for the meaning of the war power. In the latter case, the Court decided that when a collision occurs in time of war between a presidential proclamation and a congressional statute, the statute trumps the proclamation.49


Mr. Fisher noted that Mr. Yoo had “ignor[ed] Chief Judge Marshall’s statement in Talbot that the ‘whole power of war being, by the constitution of the United States, vested in [C]ongress, the acts of that body can alone be resorted to as our guides in this inquiry.’”50





Mr. Yoo also ignores Youngstown Sheet & Tube Co. v. Sawyer, 343 U.S. 579 (1952), in which the Court rejected the President’s claim that he had inherent constitutional authority to seize U.S. steel mills to keep them operating in the face of a scheduled labor strike. Like Mr. Yoo, the President’s lawyers had relied on the provisions in Article II stating that “the executive Power shall be vested in a President”; and that the president “shall be Commander in Chief of the Army and Navy of the United States.” Justice Jackson’s concurring opinion rejected this argument and set out the considerations that should go into deciding, consistent with the equilibrium of separation of powers granted to the federal government under the Constitution, whether the president has a given power, emphasizing that an assertion that a power is “within [the president’s] domain and beyond control by Congress” are the “circumstances which leave presidential power most vulnerable to attack and in the least favorable of possible constitutional postures.”51,52




The Need for a Judiciary Committee Staff Report

Mr. Yoo’s flawed theories metastasized into every corner of the Bush Imperial Presidency – from the politicization of the Justice Department, to defiant signing statements, to unchecked regulatory authority; from the arrogantly unilateral approach to detention and interrogation of detainees, and warrantless surveillance of Americans, to misuse of National Security Letters to evade established court oversight procedures; from manipulation of pre-war intelligence, to misuse of executive privilege and secrecy, to retaliation against critics. In these and other areas, we have seen an Administration with a single-minded determination to advance its aims even at the cost of abrogating the powers of the other Branches and abridging the rights and liberties of U.S. citizens. The dangers to our democracy of this effort to marshal these extraordinary powers into the Executive are what has compelled this Committee, over the past two years, to uncover and document this effort in all its excesses, to begin the work of remedying the damage it has done, and to help prevent any similar effort in the future.







Section 1 – Politicization of the Department of Justice

I feel a special obligation, maybe a special -- an additional burden coming from the White House to reassure the career people at the department and to reassure the American people that I’m not going to politicize the Department of Justice.53



 – Attorney General-designee Alberto Gonzales January 6, 2005



 I work for the White House, you work for the White House.54



 – Attorney General Alberto Gonzales April 21, 2005





One of the most significant issues explored by the 110th Congress was the politicization of basic government functions that had occurred during the Bush Administration. Concern about this issue arose as early as 2002, when former White House aide John Dilulio complained, “[t]here is no precedent in any modern White House for what is going on in this one: a complete lack of a policy apparatus. What you’ve got is everything, and I mean everything, being run by the political arm. It’s the reign of the Mayberry Machiavellis.”55





When Hurricane Katrina struck and the Administration’s deeply inadequate response was left to an unqualified political appointee in charge of the Federal Emergency Management Agency, the gravity of the problem became tragically clear.56 Further reports have only heightened concern about the scope and depth of the problem, such as the recent charge by the head of the non-partisan American Association for the Advancement of Science that unqualified political appointees were “burrowing in” to the civil service and taking over career jobs with responsibility for making and administering government science policy: “You’d just like to think people have more respect for the institution of government than to leave wreckage behind with these appointments,” this official charged.57 Additionally, the House Committee on Oversight and Government Reform has documented numerous other instances of government action being driven by political considerations, such as an aggressive White House campaign to deploy government resources in support of Republican political candidates and repeated examples of White House and Administration officials overruling policy recommendations of agency career professionals for apparently political reasons.58





It was against this backdrop that a series of disturbing reports emerged in early 2007 of federal prosecutors being forced from office in suspicious circumstances.59 Enterprising journalists immediately began collecting and analyzing these reports and noted that, in a number of cases the prosecutors who had been forced out were highly regarded; and that, in some cases, the prosecutors were also handling highly sensitive matters, such as political corruption investigations of Administration allies.60 The controversy took on further life when one of the removed United States Attorneys, David Iglesias of New Mexico, stated that his removal was “a political fragging, pure and simple.”61





The Administration’s claims that the removed prosecutors were poor performers also did little to quell the controversy. In very large part, these claims were contradicted by the Department’s formal evaluations of the removed prosecutors which rated their performance as excellent, and in many cases home state lawyers and others officials rose to publicly defend the prosecutors’ reputations.62





When documents surfaced showing that the removals were the result of a lengthy process in which United States Attorneys were ranked based on their loyalty to the President and in which some prosecutors were praised as “loyal Bushies,” the controversy took on yet another dimension. If some United States Attorneys were forced out for taking actions harmful to the Administration’s political interests, what actions had been taken by the “loyal Bushie” prosecutors who were allowed to keep their jobs?63





Concern that politics may have influenced prosecution decisions only mounted when two professors published a study indicating that the Bush Administration was seven times as likely to investigate Democratic officeholders than Republican officeholders.64 The issue sharpened when a federal appeals court reversed the politically-sensitive conviction of a Wisconsin state official named Georgia Thompson and within several hours of hearing oral argument ordered Ms. Thompson freed immediately from federal prison.65 In the context of the unfolding controversy over the U.S. Attorney removals, many questioned whether Ms. Thompson’s prosecution had been influenced by political concerns (Ms. Thompson was hired in 2001 into the civil service by the state Department of Administration, and had been indicted for allegedly awarding a state contract to a travel agency whose executives had made political contributions to Democratic Governor Jim Doyle), particularly after it was revealed that the Republican United States Attorney handling the case had been on the firing list for a time but was removed soon after he filed this indictment.66 When a Republican lawyer from Alabama executed a sworn affidavit asserting that Karl Rove himself had urged the federal prosecution of Democratic Alabama governor Don Siegelman, it was clear that the issue of politically-selective prosecutions required thorough investigation.67





In addition to reports regarding the suspicious circumstances surrounding the removal of federal prosecutors, there were also widespread reports concerning the politicization of the Civil Rights Division (CRT) at the Department of Justice. Historically, the CRT had been viewed as the government engine at the forefront of the struggle to ensure equal justice under the law – from spearheading the fight to end school segregation to promoting racial, ethnic, and gender diversity and prosecuting hate crimes. The Division’s image for vigorous law enforcement, fairness, and impartially had been tarnished.





Over the past eight years, the Division has received substantial criticism over charges of politicization in its decision-making and personnel hiring process. Beginning in 2002, the Department came under fire for misusing its authority to ensure redistricting plans that favored Republicans.68 Notwithstanding the Department’s assertion that it was committed to fully enforcing civil rights laws, attorneys both in and out of the Department argued that the Civil Rights Division has been less aggressive in bringing discrimination cases.





In particular, staff said the Department eased up on several traditional areas of civil rights enforcement,69 such as housing, voting, employment, and disability discrimination. According to a 2006 Boston Globe article, “the kinds of cases the Civil Rights Division is bringing have undergone a shift. The division is bringing fewer voting rights and employment cases involving systematic discrimination against African-Americans...”70 Richard Ugleow, a 23-year veteran of the CRT, said the Division’s statutory mandate was conscientiously fulfilled in an even-handed and judicious fashion under both Republican and Democratic Administrations, until the George W. Bush Administration.71





As criticism mounted over the politicization of enforcement decisions within the Division, experienced civil rights attorneys were driven out of the Department. In 2005, The Washington Post reported that nearly 20 percent of the division’s lawyers had left, in part because of a buyout program that some lawyers believe was aimed at pushing out those who did not share the Administrations’ conservative view on civil rights laws.72 Many veteran litigators complained that political appointees had cut them out of hiring and major policy decisions, including approvals of controversial GOP redistricting plans which career staff had concluded discriminated against minority voters.73 A Boston Globe article suggested that the Bush Administration was quietly remaking the Justice Department’s Civil Rights Division by filling the permanent ranks with lawyers who had strong conservative credentials but little experience in civil rights.74 Documents obtained by the Globe reveal that only 42 percent of the lawyers hired since 2003, after the Administration changed internal policies to give political appointees more influence in the hiring process, had civil rights experience.75 In the two years before the change, 77 percent of those who were hired had civil rights backgrounds.76 It is against this backdrop that the Committee commenced a series of hearings to investigate whether political considerations influenced the Department’s civil rights enforcement work and hiring practices.


I. Politicization of the Prosecution Function


A. Hiring and Firing of U.S. Attorneys and other Department Personnel

On March 1, 2007, House Judiciary Committee Chairman John Conyers, Jr. issued the first subpoenas of the newly convened 110th Congress.77 Those subpoenas compelled the public testimony of a group of Bush Administration United States Attorneys who had been forced from office under suspicious circumstances, and ignited a controversy that eventually would engulf the Administration. By the time the initial phase of the Committee’s investigation was complete, the entire leadership of the Department of Justice as well as two key political aides at the White House had resigned. Reportedly, the President had even been compelled to seek the resignation of his closest advisor and confidant, Karl Rove, telling him in church one Sunday in Summer 2007 “there’s too much heat on you.”78





The controversy began when reports surfaced around the country of United States Attorneys being forced from office under suspicious circumstances.79 Several Members of Congress immediately expressed concern, and Chairman Conyers and along with Courts, the Internet, and Intellectual Property Subcommittee Chairman Berman quickly wrote to Attorney General Alberto Gonzales on January 17, 2007, demanding information about the matter.80 Mr. Gonzales testified before the Senate Judiciary Committee on January 18, 2007, that “I would, never, ever make a change in a United States attorney for political reasons or if it would in any way jeopardize an ongoing serious investigation. I just would not do it.”81 This assurance did not mitigate the significant concern about the firings that had emerged, however.





In February and March 2007, both the House and Senate Judiciary Committees held hearings to explore the reasons for the firings and to address concerns that political considerations may have influenced the Administration’s decisions. Principal Associate Deputy Attorney General Will Moschella testified before the House Judiciary Committee’s Commercial and Administrative Law Subcommittee on this subject, providing both a private briefing and public testimony at a March 6, 2007, hearing regarding the reasons for the forced resignations.82 He claimed that, with one exception, the U.S. Attorneys had been fired because of their poor performance. Under questioning by Chairman Conyers, Mr. Moschella asserted the White House played only a very modest role in the matter, stating “because these are political appointees,” it would be “unremarkable” to “send the list to the White House and let them know our proposal and whether they agreed with it.”83





The same day that Mr. Moschella testified, the Subcommittee also heard from six of the removed U.S. Attorneys, who appeared pursuant to subpoena. These prosecutors described the circumstances of their removal, testifying that they were given virtually no explanation of why they were being asked to resign, and they responded to the charges of poor performance that the Administration had subsequently leveled against them.84 In addition, evidence emerged that two of the U.S. Attorneys had received what appeared to be highly inappropriate communications from Members of Congress or their staff about pending prosecution matters, and that they had disappointed those politicians by declining to provide confidential information or to take requested action. United States Attorney David Iglesias described receiving calls from Senator Pete Domenici and Representative Heather Wilson, both Republicans from New Mexico, about a public corruption matter that allegedly implicated a New Mexico Democrat, and testified that: “My sense was that they expected me to take action on these widely reported corruption matters, and I needed to do it immediately.”85 He continued to explain that after the first of these contacts, “I had a sick feeling in the pit of my stomach that something very bad had just happened. And within six weeks, I got the phone call from Mike Battle indicating that it was time for me to move on.”86 United States Attorney John McKay also described receiving a “disconcerting” call regarding his handling of election cases from the Chief of Staff to United States Representative Doc Hastings, a Republican from Washington.87

This testimony substantially increased concern that the firings were politically driven. Further questions were raised by testimony that day from another fired U.S. Attorney, Bud Cummins, describing a troubling conversation he had with Mike Elston, the Deputy Attorney General’s Chief of Staff, in which Mr. Elston discouraged Mr. Cummins and the other U.S. Attorneys from discussing this matter. In written testimony submitted after the hearing, Mr. Cummins elaborated on these disturbing communications.88 Others of the U.S. Attorneys also described similar contacts from Mr. Elston.89





To address the questions raised by this testimony, Chairman Conyers and Subcommittee Chairwoman Sánchez immediately demanded access to documents and interviews with White House and Department of Justice personnel at the center of the firings.90 That demand was given teeth by a vote on March 21, 2007, of the Commercial and Administrative Law Subcommittee to authorize the Chairman to issue additional subpoenas in order to compel production of documents and to obtain testimony from witnesses such as Karl Rove, Harriet Miers, Monica Goodling, and others who appeared to have played key roles.91 The need for this vote was soon apparent as the Department of Justice’s voluntary efforts at producing documents were so incomplete that the Chairman was compelled to issue a document subpoena to Attorney General Gonzales on April 10, 2007. 92





The documents obtained from the Department of Justice only raised more questions about the firings. Multiple drafts of lists of U.S. Attorneys to be fired were produced that had passed between the White House and the Department.93 One e-mail addressed the need to find a quick replacement for Carol Lam in San Diego, describing “the real problem we have right now with Carol Lam.”94 That e-mail was sent the very day Ms. Lam informed senior Justice Department officials that she would be executing search warrants in her expanding investigation into Republican corruption.95 The earliest document on the matter identified by the Department was an e-mail to Kyle Sampson, the Attorney General’s Chief of Staff, from a member of the White House Counsel’s office with the subject line Question From Karl Rove” asking whether U.S. Attorneys would be replaced.96





Unfortunately, none of these documents clearly established how or by whom the particular list of fired U.S. Attorneys was assembled. Nor did a marathon appearance by the Attorney General’s former Chief of Staff Kyle Sampson – who had resigned as the scandal broke – before the Senate Judiciary Committee, nor did a series of detailed staff interviews of Department of Justice personnel. Indeed, the more the Committee learned, the less clear the answers became.





In short order, the Committee’s investigation established that the so-called “performance based” reasons offered by the Administration to justify these firings were not true.97 The U.S. Attorneys were in almost all cases top performers. Respected former Deputy Attorney General and conservative Jim Comey testified before the Commercial and Administrative Law Subcommittee on May 3, 2007, that he deeply respected and valued many of these prosecutors.98 Interviews of numerous Justice Department officials further debunked the reasons given to Congress and the public to support these firings.99 For example, the reasons offered to justify the firing of John McKay arose only after he was placed on the firing list. Similarly, the notion that David Iglesias was an “absentee landlord” – the reason given to the Committee by the Justice Department to justify this firing – did not appear until after Mr. Iglesias had already been fired.100 In the case of Arkansas United States Attorney Bud Cummins, who was asked to resign to create a place for Republican political operative Tim Griffin, the Administration also provided after-the-fact justifications that were not related to the actual decision to force his resignation, such as the apparently baseless claim that he was a poor performer or the inaccurate claim that he had already announced plans to resign.101





While the investigation established that the Department’s justifications did not appear to be accurate, it only further raised suspicion about the real reasons for these firings. Indeed, based on the Department of Justice documents and interviews obtained by the Committee, it became increasingly apparent that a number of the U.S. Attorneys were removed for purely political reasons. Bud Cummins, for example, was apparently removed at least in part simply to make way for Karl Rove’s aide Tim Griffin to obtain U.S. Attorney experience to enhance his future employment and political prospects.102 David Iglesias appears to have been removed because of concern by New Mexico Republicans about his refusal to bring particular vote fraud prosecutions where he had concluded there was no appropriate basis to prosecute, and also because he angered New Mexico Members of Congress who had hoped he would bring other prosecutions ahead of the 2006 elections.103 In a number of other cases, serious concerns about the role of politics in the firings remain.104 Furthermore, it was clear that, at least in part, whether or not a U.S. Attorney was placed on or removed from the firing list depended on whether he or she had political support from Administration allies105 – in this way, as the Justice Department Inspector General would ultimately explain to the Committee, all the firings appear to have been substantially infected by improper political considerations:


Sampson also acknowledged that he considered whether particular U.S. Attorneys identified for removal had political support... If a U.S. Attorney must maintain the confidence of home state political officials to avoid removal, regardless of the merits of the U.S. Attorney’s prosecutorial decisions, respect for the Department of Justice’s independence and integrity will be severely damaged, and every U.S. Attorney’s prosecutorial decisions will be suspect.106


Attorney General Gonzales appeared before the House and Senate Judiciary Committees, yet could not dispel these concerns. Mr. Gonzales claimed that he did not place any of the U.S. Attorneys on the firing list.107 He also repeatedly claimed not to remember any of the details regarding the firing process or the reasons why these U.S. Attorneys were fired. In other significant ways, the Attorney General’s testimony appeared to conflict with either his prior statements or those of his subordinates, including on whether the Deputy Attorney General had played a meaningful role in the firing process – at one point the Attorney General said that the Deputy was a key figure, but at another point he said that the Deputy was not significantly involved – and on whether he had spoken to other participants in the firing process about their potential testimony.108 On the later point, he first denied speaking to so-called “fact witnesses” but later admitted talking over the facts of the matter with Monica Goodling, the Justice Department’s Liaison to the White House.109 Ms. Goodling testified before the full House Judiciary Committee under compulsion of a subpoena and a limited grant of immunity that was needed to overcome her invocation of the Fifth Amendment.110 This was the first time a witness had appeared before a Congressional Committee under compulsion of subpoena and a grant of limited immunity since 2003 and the only time it occurred during the 110th Congress. At this hearing, Ms. Goodling acknowledged “crossing the line” by considering political factors in hiring career prosecutors and immigration judges, and in approving Department personnel for important “details” in Department leadership offices.111 This testimony led to two detailed reports by the Department’s Offices of the Inspector General and Professional Responsibility that found widespread and in some cases unlawful consideration of improper political considerations in Department hiring for a diverse array of positions including Honors program entry level positions, career Assistant United States Attorney jobs, summer internships, and details to top Department offices and immigration judgeships.112





These findings echoed concerns stated by former Deputy Attorney General James Comey, who had previously testified before a Judiciary Subcommittee about the harm that would result if the Department was found to have taken politics into account in hiring federal prosecutors:


[T]hat concerns me a great deal. I hope that didn’t happen. I hope the investigation turns out that it didn’t happen. But that is a very serious thing. U.S. Attorneys are political appointees, as the chairman said. They can be terminated for any reason. And I understood that I was a political appointee. But these AUSAs, they are the ones on whom the whole system rests. And we just cannot have that kind of political test... It’s very troubling. I don’t know how you would put that genie back in the bottle, if people started to believe we were hiring our AUSAs for political reasons. I don’t know that there’s any window you can go to get the Department’s reputation back if that kind of stuff is going on.113


During her House Judiciary Committee testimony, Ms. Goodling also described a very disturbing conversation with Attorney General Gonzales in which he appears to have rehearsed his version of the facts regarding the firings with Ms. Goodling while the congressional investigation of the matter was proceeding.114 According to Ms. Goodling, she had visited Mr. Gonzales’ office as the controversy unfolded seeking a transfer or change of duties, and Mr. Gonzales instead proceeded to go over his view of the relevant events, saying, “‘Let me tell you what I can remember.’ And he kind of -- he laid out for me his general recollection.” Ms. Goodling further stated that this conversation with the Attorney General made her uncomfortable: “And I remember thinking at that point that this was something that we were all going to have to talk about, and I didn’t know that it was – I just – I didn’t know that it was maybe appropriate for us to talk about that at that point, and so I just didn’t.”115





Finally, Ms. Goodling confirmed Committee concerns that the Administration had made an intentional effort to obscure and minimize the role of the White House in the matter, telling Members that Deputy Attorney General McNulty had warned her away from a Senate briefing on the issue because, if she were present, Senators might be encouraged to ask questions about the actions of the White House.116 While it thus provided important information for the Committee’s investigation, Ms. Goodling’s testimony did not, however, explain who had identified these U.S. Attorneys for firing or why.





Eventually, the Committee exhausted all sources of information from within the Department of Justice without being able to answer key questions about the firings. As Mr. Conyers put it in questioning the Attorney General, there was only one more place to look for answers: “The breadcrumbs in this investigation have always led to 1600 Pennsylvania Avenue.”117 Accordingly, on June 13, 2007, the Chairman issued subpoenas for White House documents and for the appearance of former White House Counsel Harriet Miers regarding these matters.118 That same day, Senate Judiciary Committee Chairman Leahy issued an identical document subpoena to the White House as well as a subpoena for the testimony of Karl Rove’s aide Sara Taylor. Chairman Conyers also subpoenaed White House documents known to be contained on the computer servers of the Republican National Committee (RNC), which had been used by White House personnel, apparently in an effort to avoid federal record keeping requirements.119





On July 12, 2007, the Commercial and Administrative Law Subcommittee convened to hear the testimony of Harriet Miers. Ms. Miers, however, refused to appear for the hearing, making the unprecedented claim that, as a former aide to President Bush, she was immune from congressional subpoena.120 The White House similarly refused to produce a single subpoenaed document, claiming that every piece of paper within the White House related to the U.S. Attorney firings was covered by executive privilege, and refusing even to provide a log describing the documents that were being withheld.121 The RNC also refused to provide most of the subpoenaed documents or a privilege log, claiming that White House orders prevented it from doing so.122





On July 25, 2007, the full Judiciary Committee voted 22-17 to recommend that the House of Representatives find Harriet Miers and White House Chief of Staff Josh Bolten, as custodian of White House documents, in contempt of Congress.123 On February 14, 2008, the contempt resolution came to the House for a vote. In support of the Committee, the full House voted to cite Ms. Miers and Mr. Bolten for contempt and refer them for criminal prosecution, by an overwhelming vote of 223-32.124 This was the first vote to cite a person for contempt of Congress in over 25 years.

The Administration refused to prosecute the contempt however, at the direction of newlyinstalled Attorney General Michael Mukasey, in possible violation of the federal criminal contempt statute.125 In response, Chairman Conyers used the authority granted to him by the House to take the matter to Court. On March 10, 2008, the Committee filed a civil action in the U.S. District Court seeking a legal ruling that the Administration’s theories of immunity from subpoena and executive privilege were legally unsound.126





On July 31, 2008, United States District Judge John Bates granted the Committee’s motion for partial summary judgment and ruled, as the Committee had argued, that Harriet Miers was not immune from congressional subpoena and that she was required to appear and testify before the Committee.127 Judge Bates explained:


The Executive cannot identify a single judicial opinion that recognizes absolute immunity for senior presidential advisors in this or any other context. That simple yet critical fact bears repeating: the asserted absolute immunity claim here is entirely unsupported by existing case law. In fact, there is Supreme Court authority that is all but conclusive on this question and that powerfully suggests that such advisors do not enjoy absolute immunity. The Court therefore rejects the Executive’s claim of absolute immunity for senior presidential aides.128


Judge Bates also ruled that the Administration had no valid excuse for refusing to produce non-privileged documents and that the Administration was obligated to provide a more detailed listing and description of any documents withheld from the Committee’s subpoena on executive privilege grounds than it previously had done.129 The matter is now pending in the United States Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia, and the Judge’s order has been stayed during the appeal.130





On September 29, 2008, the Department’s Offices of the Inspector General and Professional Responsibility released their own detailed report on the forced resignation of the U.S. Attorneys.131 The report confirmed the Committee’s initial conclusions that the so-called performance-based reasons offered by the Administration to justify these firings were in large part untrue and that a number of the firings were politically motivated, concluding that “political partisan considerations were an important factor in the removal of several of the U.S. Attorneys.”132 The Department’s report further concluded that inaccurate and misleading statements were made to the Congress and the public on this matter, and that a number of laws may have been violated by both the firings and the potential false statements of Administration officials.133 Finally, the report described a widespread refusal by White House witnesses to cooperate with the Department’s investigation and the refusal of the White House to make key documents available, and concluded that because of this obstruction, Department investigators “were unable to determine the role the White House played in these removals.”134





Because of the seriousness of their findings and the limits on their authority to compel White House cooperation, the Department watchdogs called in this report for the appointment of a federal prosecutor to continue the investigation and evaluate whether criminal charges should be brought.135 Accepting this recommendation, Attorney General Mukasey appointed Norah M. Dannehy, the Acting United States Attorney for the District of Connecticut, to continue the investigation.136 As of this writing, Ms. Dannehy’s investigation is ongoing.




B. Selective Prosecution

Just as the Committee’s investigation has revealed that some U.S. Attorneys who apparently were not considered sufficiently loyal were forced to resign, concerns have also been raised that political pressure may have been brought to bear on some U.S. Attorneys who were permitted to keep their jobs – including the so-called “loyal Bushies,” as they were described by Kyle Sampson, Chief of Staff to then-Attorney General Gonzales.137 These concerns were reinforced and heightened by an academic study published by Professors Donald Shields and John Cragan in February 2007 and updated for presentation at an October 23, 2007, joint hearing of the Crime, Terrorism, and Homeland Security and Commercial and Administrative Law Subcommittees that found federal prosecutors during the Bush Administration have investigated Democratic officeholders far more frequently than their Republican counterparts.138 The updated findings – based on a sample of 820 reported cases and investigations – determined that during the Bush Administration, 80% of federal public corruption investigations have involved Democratic officeholders and only 14% have involved Republican officeholders.139 Based on these data, the study’s author testified that the Administration’s investigations of Democrats are “highly disproportionate,” and that there was “less than one chance in 10,000” that the overrepresentation of Democrats was by chance, concluding that selective prosecution of Democrats must have occurred.140





The Committee’s investigation generated bipartisan concern about politically motivated prosecutions. During the summer of 2007, the Committee received a bipartisan petition signed by 44 former state Attorneys General calling for action.141 At the Subcommittees’ joint hearing, Ronald Reagan and George H. W. Bush Attorney General Richard Thornburgh stated his concern about “apparent political prosecution” and warned that citizens “may no longer” have “confidence that the Department of Justice is conducting itself in a fair and impartial manner without actual political influence or the appearance of political influence.”142





Against this background, Committee staff investigated numerous allegations of selective prosecution that have surfaced around the country. In the early stages of its work, the Committee focused particularly on three cases where concerns about politically-motivated prosecutions have been especially intense: the Georgia Thompson case in Milwaukee, Wisconsin; the prosecution of the Democratic former Governor of Alabama Don Siegelman; and the criminal prosecution of Allegheny County coroner Cyril Wecht in Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania. Staff has also examined several cases brought against a group of judges and a practicing attorney in Jackson, Mississippi, including Mississippi Supreme Court Justice Oliver Diaz and trial attorney Paul Minor. Each of these matters presented at best a questionable exercise of prosecutorial discretion, and they often involved charges that appear to have elevated routine political fund-raising or similarly mundane conduct into aggressive federal criminal charges. As stated above, other cases of alleged selective prosecution have also been reported from states such as Georgia, Illinois, and elsewhere. The facts and circumstances of these prosecutions, as revealed by a detailed staff investigation, are summarized in a thorough report prepared for Chairman Conyers by the Committee’s majority staff that was released on April 17, 2008.143





Even since that report, however, additional instances of potentially politicized decision.-making within the Department have continued to arise, such as charges that the Department failed to fully prosecute corruption within the politically controversial Interior Department Oil and Gas leasing program, and that politically-connected Interior Department officials pressured Main Justice officials to overrule local prosecutors and keep the Department out of civil whistleblower cases involving that same program.144 In one such case, the local U.S. Attorney complained on the record of being overruled “at the highest levels” of the Department and the career civil chief handling the matter reportedly suggested to the whistleblower’s lawyer that “the case ‘had political stuff written all over it.’”145





The case of former Alabama Governor Don Siegelman has raised the greatest controversy and seen the greatest level of investigative activity in this area. The House Judiciary Committee obtained sworn testimony on the case, through the September 14, 2007, deposition under oath of a Republican lawyer from Alabama, Dana Jill Simpson, who testified that she heard extensive discussion of Karl Rove pressing the Justice Department into prosecuting Don Siegelman.





As noted in Section 5, the Committee has actively pursued testimony from Karl Rove, issuing a subpoena for his testimony on May 22, 2008. When Mr. Rove refused to appear in response to subpoena, the Subcommittee and then the full Committee by a 20-14 vote recommended that the full House of Representatives cite Mr. Rove for contempt of Congress.





On the Wecht case, the United States Attorney responsible for the prosecution, Mary Beth Buchanan, was interviewed on the record by Committee majority and minority staff in connection with the broader U.S. Attorney purge investigation, although the Department (and Committee minority staff) objected to questions regarding the Wecht matter and thus she was prevented from testifying.146





On October 23, 2007, the Crime, Terrorism, and Homeland Security Subcommittees held a joint hearing on the subject, and heard from witnesses on the Siegelman and Wecht cases, including former Attorney General Richard Thornburgh and former United States Attorney Doug Jones, as well as one of the authors of the statistical analysis discussed above.147 As quoted above, former Attorney General Thornburgh testified about the very disturbing facts of the Wecht case and stated his view that it appeared that politics had affected the prosecution decision. Former U.S. Attorney Jones testified about facts he learned while representing Don Siegelman in Alabama.148 Mr. Jones explained that at one point the investigation had essentially closed, but just as the 2006 gubernatorial election primary season arrived, it heated back up. When Mr. Jones asked about this, he was told that the order came down from “Washington” to give the case a top-to-bottom review, which resulted in an entire new investigation being launched under circumstances that greatly troubled Mr. Jones.149





The Committee also aggressively pursued access to documents needed for this investigation. On July 17, 2007, Chairman Conyers, Commercial and Administrative Law Subcommittee Chairwoman Sánchez, and Committee Members Artur Davis and Tammy Baldwin sent a letter to then-Attorney General Gonzales seeking documents regarding the Department’s handling of the Siegelman, Wecht, and Thompson cases, including materials that would explain the Department’s charging analysis and decision-making process.150 Two months later, on September 4, 2007, the Department responded by refusing to produce any “predecisional” or “deliberative” documents regarding any of these cases, relying on a statement of the Department’s claimed “longstanding” position made in a 2002 letter authored by Alberto Gonzales when he served as White House Counsel.151 The Department did provide a small number of documents (less than 30 pages) regarding the Thompson case, which it considered a “closed” matter about which information could be somewhat more freely shared, and offered to make United States Attorney Biskupic available for an untranscribed briefing on that case.152 The Department refused, however, to provide any non-public information or documents regarding the Siegelman and Wecht cases, asserting that it could not provide such information to the Committee on “open” matters.153





Chairman Conyers, Chair Sánchez, and Representatives Davis and Baldwin responded by further clarifying the scope of the Committee’s information request and explaining that the Department’s refusal to provide any information on “open” cases or any “deliberative” materials was inconsistent with past practice and Department precedent.154 In fact, Congress repeatedly has obtained prosecution memoranda and other deliberative materials of the Department regarding both open and closed criminal matters during past congressional investigations.155 The Administration even made available to Congress the very prosecution memoranda that were at issue in the 2002 letter authored by Mr. Gonzales on which the Department relied.156





Negotiations regarding the possible production of documents continued between Committee staff and the Department’s Office of Legislative Affairs. Some progress was made on the Thompson case, and a provisional agreement was reached in which Committee majority and minority staff members were permitted to review some relevant documents on Department premises, including interview memoranda and internal Department correspondence, as well as a detailed pre-indictment analysis akin to the prosecution memo, as a predicate for an untranscribed briefing by Mr. Biskupic (offered without prejudice to a subsequent transcribed interview or hearing if deemed necessary). In December 2007, Mr. Biskupic provided a confidential briefing on the Thompson case and related matters to Committee majority and minority staff during which he denied having any political motives in bringing the prosecution, and claimed that he had not even known that he was under consideration to be removed from his position as a U.S. Attorney by Department leaders.





Unfortunately, the Department largely stonewalled all further requests for information and has completely denied access to non-public materials regarding the Siegelman or Wecht matters. Accordingly, on June 27, 2008, Chairman Conyers issued a subpoena for these documents. Despite extensive negotiations, that subpoena has not been fully complied with and the Siegielman and Wecht documents have been withheld.157 On December 10, 2008, Chairman Conyers wrote to the Attorney General demanding that these documents – and others subject to outstanding Committee subpoenas and requests – be appropriately preserved during the transition to a new administration.158





Recent developments have only heightened concern about these cases. On March 27, 2008, the federal appeals court in Atlanta, Georgia ruled that former Alabama Governor Siegelman should be released from prison pending his appeal, having concluded that “Siegelman has satisfied the criteria set out in the statute, and has specifically met his burden of showing that his appeal raises substantial questions of law or fact” regarding the viability of his conviction.159 And more recently, new information has surfaced describing additional acts of apparent misconduct by the Siegelman prosecution team. On November 7, 2008, Chairman Conyers wrote the Attorney General transmitting troubling documents provided by a Department whistleblower suggesting that the Siegelman jury had improperly communicated with the prosecution during trial, contacts that were never disclosed to the defense or the judge.160 Chairman Conyers also transmitted documents suggesting that the Republican-connected U.S. Attorney, who had purportedly recused herself from the case at the insistence of the defense, had in fact communicated information and a litigation strategy recommendation to the active members of the team. Commentators have expressed extensive concern about this new information, such as law professor Carl Tobias who said that the e-mails raise “legitimate questions” about the prosecution’s conduct.161





Developments in the Wecht case have also only reinforced the Committee’s concerns. In early April, after a two-month trial during which the prosecution presented over forty witnesses (the defense rested without putting on any evidence, arguing that the prosecution had not proved its case), and following ten days of deliberations, the jury announced that it was deadlocked and the presiding judge declared a mistrial. The prosecution immediately sought a retrial, a decision that defense lawyers criticized as having been made without due deliberation and before the reasons for the hung jury had been assessed.162





Subsequently, a member of the jury revealed that “[t]he majority of the jury thought he was innocent,” and the Pittsburgh Post-Gazette editorialized that the case “added up to a big zero” and that it would be a “travesty” for the prosecution to continue and would “tarnish the integrity of the U.S. Attorney’s office.”163 Indeed, on learning that a retrial was planned, the jury foreman wondered if the prosecution had any additional evidence that the jury had not seen, and stated that “as the case went on, my thoughts were this was being politically driven.”164 Other jurors apparently also had become concerned during trial that politics had played a role in the prosecution.165 Local alarm was only further heightened by news that the prosecution had dispatched FBI agents to visit members of the jury.166 Further demonstrating the bipartisan nature of public concern about the course of this prosecution, on April 16, 2008, a group of Republican and Democratic citizens of the Western District of Pennsylvania wrote to Attorney General Mukasey and U.S. Attorney Buchanan urging that the snap decision to retry Dr. Wecht be reconsidered.167





On April 17, 2008, along with the release of the Committee majority staff’s report on this subject, Chairman Conyers, Chair Sánchez, and Representatives Davis and Baldwin requested a full investigation of these cases by the Department’s Offices of Professional Responsibility and Inspector General, and the Office of Professional Responsibility has launched such an investigation, which remains pending as of this writing.168






II. Politicization of the Civil Rights Division


A. Factual Background

The Civil Rights Division (CRT) was created as part of the Civil Rights Act of 1957 which sought to protect the voting rights of African Americans who suffered widespread and pervasive discrimination, particularly in the Deep South. In the years that followed the passage of the Act, the Division’s narrow mandate was expanded to include the enforcement of civil rights statutes aimed at eliminating discrimination in employment, housing, schools, lending institutions, public accommodations, and federally assisted programs. The Division’s mandate was also extended beyond race discrimination to include discrimination based on national origin, immigration status, religion, sex, disability, and family status.169





During the Bush Administration, a series of news reports and complaints surfaced concerning the selective enforcement of civil rights statutes by the Justice Department. From 2002 to 2007, the CRT was embroiled in controversy surrounding the politicization of the policy decisions affecting its hiring practices, the preclearance of discriminatory redistricting plans, and the limited number of discrimination cases brought throughout the Division, particularly in the areas of voting, housing, and employment. Within that five year period, there were consistent allegations that the Division had strayed from its core mission of enforcing federal civil rights statutes aimed at eliminating discrimination and ensuring equal treatment and equal justice under law.170





In a 2007 report submitted to the United Nations Committee on the Elimination of Racial Discrimination, the American Civil Liberties Union (ACLU) concluded that racial and ethnic discrimination and inequality remain ongoing and pervasive in the United States, and that the U.S. Government has not done enough to address these important problems. The report cited the Civil Rights Division’s enforcement work since 2001 as an example of the government’s failure to take proactive steps to end racial discrimination in the United States.171 The ACLU argued that “the Justice Department’s Civil Rights Division has abandoned much of the traditional civil rights enforcement work it once pursued. For instance, the Voting Section encouraged states to limit, rather than expand, the franchise.”172





In 2007, Bob Kengle, former Deputy Chief of the Voting Section of the Civil Rights Division and a Justice Department veteran, said that he left the Division because he reached his “personal breaking point.” He explained, “in short, I lost faith in the institution as it had become. This was not the result of just one individual, such as Brad Schlozman, although he certainly did his share and then some. Rather, it was the result of an institutional sabotage after which I concluded that as a supervisor I no longer could protect line attorneys from political appointees, keep the litigation I supervised focused on the law and the facts, ensure that attorneys place civil rights enforcement ahead of partisanship, or pursue cases based solely on merit.”173





Notwithstanding declining caseloads and intense criticism regarding the adequacy of the Department’s enforcement work, the Bush Administration maintained that the Civil Rights Division continued robust and vigorous enforcement of civil rights laws. A close examination of the Division’s docket, however, revealed a dramatic shift in the kinds of cases the Civil Rights Division litigated. The division brought very few voting rights and employment cases involving systematic discrimination against African-Americans and other minorities, but instead focused on cases alleging reverse discrimination against whites and religious discrimination against Christians. According to Department statistics, prosecutions for the kinds of racial and gender discrimination crimes traditionally handled by the division declined 40 percent over the past five years. Dozens of CRT attorneys found themselves handling appeals of deportation orders and other immigration matters instead of civil rights cases.174 Shortly after it became public that political appointees within the Division approved a Georgia law requiring photo identification to vote over the strong objections of career professionals, the Voting Section leadership instituted a new rule requiring that staff members who review Section 5 voting submissions limit their written analysis to the facts surrounding the matter, and expressly prohibited the career staff from making recommendations as to whether or not the Department should impose an objection to the voting change.175





Much of the controversy surrounding the Voting Section centered around its enforcement of the Voting Rights Act of 1965.176 This statute contains two sections that are key to the Department’s ability to combat racial and language based discrimination in the election process: Section 5 and Section 2. Section 5 requires jurisdictions with a history of discrimination in voting to preclear, or get federal approval of, any new voting practices or procedures and to show that they do not have a discriminatory purpose or effect. Preclearance may be granted by the Attorney General or the Federal District Court for the District of Columbia. All voting changes submitted to the Department of Justice are reviewed and evaluated by the Voting Section, and if the Section finds that the submitting authority has failed to meet its burden of proving the absence of a discriminatory purpose or effect, the Justice Department can interpose an objection to prevent the implementation of the voting change. Section 2 is another critical enforcement tool the Department uses to eliminate discrimination in voting. Section 2 is a national prohibition on practices and procedures that deny individuals an equal opportunity to participate effectively in the political process on the basis of race or membership in a language minority group.177 Section 2 is enforced through litigation brought by the Justice Department’s Voting Section or private litigants.




B. Committee Actions

With this background, Chairman Conyers and Constitution Subcommittee Chairman Jerrold Nadler held a series of hearings focusing on enforcement, voting rights, fair housing, and employment discrimination. Because the greatest evidence of politicization occurred in voting, the Committee focused most of its oversight efforts on the enforcement work of the Voting Section, holding a total of seven hearings relating to the subject in the 110th Congress.





On March 7, 2007, Chairman Conyers held a full Committee hearing on “Protecting the Right to Vote: Election Deception and Irregularities in Recent Federal Elections.” In his opening statement Chairman Conyers explained that, “there is no more important issue that comes before this Committee, this Congress or this Nation than protecting the right to vote. Our democracy is premised on the notion of one person, one vote. It is the keystone right of our nation, and without it, all of the other rights and privileges of our people would quickly become meaningless.”





During his testimony, Ralph Neas, president of People for the American Way, explained that voter suppression techniques were used throughout the 2006 mid-term federal election to deceive voters into changing their votes, to vote on the wrong day, or to go to the wrong polling place. Some schemes attempted to convince citizens that voting will be difficult or even dangerous, or simply annoy them so much that they would stay home from the polls in disgust at the whole process.178 For example, thousands of Latino voters in Orange County, California, received letters warning them in Spanish that, “if you are an immigrant, voting in a federal election is a crime that can result in incarceration.”179 In Maryland, “democratic sample ballot” fliers were disseminated in predominately African-American neighborhoods which deceptively identified Democratic candidates as Republicans.180 Virginia voters received robo calls from a so-called “Virginia Elections Commission” informing them – falsely – that they were ineligible to vote. Virginia voters were also told that they couldn’t vote if they had family members who had been convicted of a crime.181 Commenting on the Department’s voting enforcement record, then-Senator Obama argued that a private right of action provision was needed in the Deceptive Practices and Voter Intimidation Prevention Act “to allow individuals to go to court to stop deceptive practices while they are happening. That is important, given how uninterested the current Justice Department has proved to be in cracking down on election-season dirty tricks.”182





On March 22, 2007, Chairman Nadler and Chairman Conyers held a hearing to evaluate the enforcement work of the Civil Rights Division. Witnesses included Wan Kim, former Assistant Attorney General for the Civil Rights Division (2005-2007), Joe Rich, former Voting Section Chief for the Civil Rights Division (1999-2005), and Leadership Conference on Civil Rights (LCCR) President Wade Henderson. This hearing, “Changing Tides: Exploring the Current State of Civil Rights Enforcement within the DOJ,” coincided with the release of a report by the Citizens’ Commission on Civil Rights, “The Erosion of Rights.”183





The Commission’s report provided detailed accounts of new policies implemented within the Civil Rights Division during the Bush Administration that led to a rapid decline in civil rights enforcement despite staff recommendations and complaints of discrimination. It focused on four distinct areas of the Division: Voting Section, Employment Section, Criminal Section, and personnel decisions. Of the sections highlighted, the Voting Section was by far the most controversial because of highly questionable legal and policy positions by the Department in key voting rights matters that appeared to undertaken to benefit Republicans.184 Many current and former lawyers in the section argued that senior officials exerted political influence in many of the sensitive voting-rights cases the unit handled from 2001 to 2005 including two in Georgia,185 one in Mississippi186 and a Texas187 redistricting plan orchestrated by Congressman Tom DeLay in 2003.188 “Erosion of Rights” contends that fair and vigorous enforcement of Section 5 was compromised because of partisan political concerns. The report concluded that these actions damaged the Section 5 process, undermined the credibility of the Justice Department and the Civil Rights Division, and resulted in discriminatory voting changes being precleared.189 In explaining the level of politicization that had seeped not only into voting rights enforcement, but also into personnel matters, Mr. Rich testified that he “was ordered to change standard performance evaluations of attorneys under his supervision to include critical comments of those who had made recommendations that were counter to the political will of the front office and to improve evaluations of those who were politically favored.”190





Further still, some in the civil rights community have argued that the Bush Administration has undertaken a series of actions through regulations, litigation, and budgetary policy that illustrate a pattern of hostility toward core civil rights values and signal a diminished commitment to eradicating discrimination in this country.191 In his testimony, Wade Henderson, the Executive Director of the LCCR, said, “over the last six years, we have seen politics trump substance and alter the prosecution of our nation’s civil rights laws in many parts of the Division. We have seen career civil rights division employees – section chiefs, deputy chiefs, and line lawyers – forced out of their jobs in order to drive political agendas. We have seen whole categories of cases not being brought, and the bar made unreachably high for bringing suit in other cases. We have seen some outright overruling of career prosecutors for political reasons,192 and also many cases being ‘slow walked,’ to death.”193





On October 30, 2007, the Subcommittee held a hearing focusing exclusively on issues in the Voting Section. One of the key witnesses was John Tanner, then head of the Voting Section. Among other things, Mr. Tanner was questioned concerning his previous controversial comments defending the Department’s decision to overrule staff in favor of preclearing the Georgia voter ID law. Mr. Tanner had explained that “primarily elderly persons” are the ones adversely affected by such laws, but “minorities don’t become elderly the way white people do: They die first.” So, anything that “disproportionately impacts the elderly, has the opposite impact on minorities,” he added.194 After questioning Mr. Tanner about the factual basis of his comments, Congressman Artur Davis said, “[w]ell, this is the problem. Once again, you engaged in an analysis without knowing the numbers... You are charged with enforcing the voting rights laws in this country. And if you are not fully informed about things that you’re talking about and pontificating about, if you’re basing your conclusions on stereotypes and generalizations, that raises a question in the minds of some of us whether or not you are the person in the best position to make these choices.”195





Toby Moore, former Geographer and Social Science Analyst of the Voting Section of the CRT assigned to the controversial Georgia photo voter identification matter, testified that “the eagerness to conform analysis to decisions already made that characterized the Section’s efforts in Ohio in 2004 and in 2003 enforcement generally led to a Georgia voter ID investigation in the summer of 2005 in which a determined effort was made to suppress evidence of retrogression, manufacture evidence in support of voter ID laws generally, and to punish those of us who disagreed. To me, it represents the nadir of Voting Section enforcement, worse even than the Section’s action in the Mississippi redistricting case.”196





In describing the impact of the Voting Section’s actions in the Georgia case, Laughlin McDonald, ACLU Voting Rights Project Director, testified that “the revelations of partisan bias in the Civil Rights Division Voting Section’s decision making create a lack of confidence and trust in the section.” He explained that political bias undermines the Section’s effectiveness and calls into question the Section’s decisions about what to investigate and what kind of cases to bring. He also pointed out that “the section’s recent action is a clear signal that partisanship can trump racial fairness, and thus increases the likelihood that minorities will be manipulated to advance partisan goals.”197





Julie Fernandes, former Counsel to the Assistant Attorney General for Civil Rights, testified:


[S]ince 2001, the Civil Rights Division has brought two cases alleging voting discrimination against African Americans. One, in Crockett County, Tennessee, was authorized under the previous Administration, with the complaint finally filed in April 2001. The other was in 2006 in Euclid, Ohio. No cases involving voting discrimination against African Americans have been brought in the Deep South throughout the entire Administration. Not one. The only case brought alleging racial discrimination in the Deep South was a case to protect White voters in Mississippi. Of course, White voters are protected by the Voting Rights Act. But it strains the imagination to believe that the only example of racial discrimination in voting in the Deep South for the past 6 years was a case involving White voters.198


Several other enforcement actions that appeared to be influenced by political considerations were addressed during the hearing. In a letter dated April 15, 2005, Hans von Spakovsky, then-Counsel to the Assistant Attorney General for the Civil Rights Division, informed the Arizona Secretary of State that, under the Help America Vote Act (HAVA), voters without identification can be denied provisional ballots.199 This position taken by Mr. von Spakovsky reversed existing Department of Justice positions on HAVA provisional ballot requirements and ultimately was rescinded. Furthermore, the April 15, 2005, letter appeared to be issued in a manner inconsistent with Justice Department and Election Assistance Commission (EAC) protocol.200 Another example of apparently unwarranted and restrictive voting rights intervention by the Department raised at the hearing was the agency’s unsolicited October 29, 2004, letter to an Ohio federal judge, advising that challenges to voters’ eligibility in Ohio are legally permissible,201 despite the fact that such challenges to Ohio voters would appear to constitute caging, a discriminatory voter suppression tactic that is prohibited by Section 2 of the Voting Rights Act202 and a Republican National Party Consent Decree.203





On February 26, 2008, the Subcommittee held a hearing to further examine the enforcement actions and priorities of the Department of Justice. At this hearing, Hilary O. Shelton, Director, Washington Bureau of the National Association for the Advancement of Colored People (NAACP), testified that “the number of voter suppression cases brought by the current Department of Justice does not reflect the number of complaints of people across the Nation who feel their rights have been violated.” Mr. Shelton also said that “the NAACP, as well as representatives from almost every other civil and voting rights organization, all report an increase in the number of Americans – primarily racial and ethnic minority Americans – who say that they have been denied their Constitutional right to register and vote.”204





Lorriane C. Minnite, Ph.D., Assistant Professor of Political Science, testified that voter fraud is rare,205 and questioned the efficacy and fairness of the Department vote fraud investigations. She also questioned the purpose of the Department of Justice’s Ballot Access and Voting Integrity Initiative, pointing out that the program has turned up very little individual voter fraud. Ms. Minnite found that, three years after the Department of Justice Ballot Access and Voting Integrity Initiative was launched in 2002, government records show that only 24 people were convicted of or pled guilty to illegal voting between 2002 and 2005, an average of eight people a year.206 This includes 19 people who were ineligible to vote, five because they were still under state supervision for felony convictions, 14 who were not U.S. citizens, and five people who voted twice in the same election.207





Policy modifications and changes to the Federal Prosecution of Election Offenses Manual, published in May 2007, and which provides guidelines regarding voter fraud prosecutions, was also a topic during the hearing. In a letter admitted into the hearing record, J. Gerald Hebert, Executive Director and Director of Litigation of the Campaign Legal Center discussed the changes to the manual.208 Mr. Hebert, a 20 year veteran of the CRT Voting Section, argued that the changes to the manual “appear to open the door for partisan abuse of election law enforcement by political appointees at DOJ.” He explained that the manual removed the precautionary measures instituted to prevent partisan abuse of election law enforcement by political appointees in the timing of investigations or indictments, the pursuit of isolated instances of individual voter fraud (as compared to mass cases of voter suppression), and the types of pre-election investigations to be avoided by prosecutors.





On May 14, 2008, the Commercial and Administrative Law and Crime, Terrorism, and Homeland Security Subcommittees held a joint hearing to examine two matters that raised serious questions about the Department’s approach to allegations of voter suppression. The hearing showed how the Department’s aggressive effort to prosecute questionable cases of so-called voter fraud stands in marked contrast to its far more passive approach to allegations that voting rights have been suppressed. At the outset of the hearing, the Administration’s disengagement with these issues was clearly shown when it refused to send a witness to present the Department’s view of the matters despite Chairman Conyers’ request that they do so.209





The first matter explored at the hearing was the effort by Republican political operatives to jam telephones for ride-to-the polls services offered by the New Hampshire Democratic Party and the Manchester Fire Fighters Association on Election Day 2002. A federal judge found that this scheme was an “insidious” effort “to suppress as many votes for Democratic candidates as possible by sabotaging efforts to get citizens with transportation problems rides to polling places – citizens who the conspirators thought would largely vote for Democratic candidates.”210





The hearing explored evidence that the Justice Department’s investigation of this matter was limited to low-level party operatives, that leads pointing to the involvement of senior White House officials were not fully investigated, and that Administration officials obstructed and the delayed the progress of the prosecution effort to benefit Republican Party interests. For example, witness Paul Twomey who represented the New Hampshire Democratic Party in a civil suit related to the matter testified that “the slow pace of this case has been occasioned by delays caused by individuals at the highest levels of the Department of Justice and that all decisions had to be reviewed by the Attorney General himself.”211 He further testified that evidence leading to the White House did not appear to have been fully investigated, even though “[d]uring the course of the criminal conspiracy, [plot organizer] James Tobin made literally hundreds of calls to the political office of the White House.”212 Mr. Twomey also described how “the Republican National Committee had paid several million dollars for the [plotters’] legal fees” and had done so “in consultation with the White House.”213 One of the key implementers of the scheme, Republican operative Allen Raymond, who later wrote the book “How To Rig An Election” documenting his role in this and other Republican vote suppression tactics, also testified and stated his view that the senior most officials and attorneys of the Republican Party apparatus would likely have known about a scheme such as this.214





The second matter explored at the May 14th hearing was the Department’s apparent failure to take meaningful action in response to reports that Republican-connected voter registration firm named Sproul and Associates had engaged in serious misconduct. The allegations included declining to register Democratic voters and actually destroying registration cards collected from Democratic voters in several states prior to the national elections in 2004.215 Evidence of such misconduct was widely broadcast in the month prior to those elections, when a television news program in Nevada obtained destroyed registration cards from the trash and a former Sproul employee described in an affidavit being trained to register only Republicans and to tear up Democratic registrations in that state.216 An investigative reporter in Las Vegas obtained destroyed registration cards and contacted the registrants who reported being “shocked to learn” that their forms had not been filed.217





At the hearing, a letter to Committee staff from Holly McCullough, a library manager in Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania was entered into the record. Ms. McCullough described her contacts with Sproul employees and how she had received complaints from her staff that Sproul employees would ask patrons who they planned to vote for in the 2004 presidential election and then would only register people who said that they planned to vote to re-elect President Bush.218 Ms. McCullough further reported that, although she was easily located by the media seeking information about the activities of Sproul, she had never been contacted by any state or federal law enforcement investigator about the matter. Ms. McCullough further stated that, as a result of Sproul’s misconduct, she would no longer allow any voter registration activities to occur at her facilities.219





On July 24, 2008, the Constitution Subcommittee held a hearing titled “Lessons Learned from the 2004 presidential Election.” The hearing examined the voting problems that were encountered during the 2004 presidential election in order to glean key lessons that could be applied to prevent recurring voting problems before the 2008 general election. The hearing also included a discussion about proactive measures that could be taken by the Department of Justice, Election Assistance Commission, and local and state election officials to effectively address potential voting problems. Two key witnesses who testified during the Subcommittee hearing were J. Kenneth Blackwell, former Secretary of State of Ohio, who appeared only after the Subcommittee voted to authorize a subpoena in February 2008,220 and Hans von Spakovsky, Visiting Scholar at the Heritage Foundation, who had significant involvement in the Department’s decision to approve the Georgia photo identification requirement.





Mr. Blackwell was the focus of many of the questions during the hearing. He gained national prominence for his dual roles as Chief Elections Official of Ohio and co-chair of the “Committee to re-elect George W. Bush” during the 2004 election. Allegations of conflict of interest and voter disenfranchisement led to the filing of at least sixteen election related lawsuits naming Mr. Blackwell as a defendant.221 Until this point, he had refused to respond to a series of letters from Chairman Conyers and other Members of the Committee concerning the 2004 election, as described in a 102-page report produced in 2005 at Mr. Conyers’ request.222 In questioning Mr. Blackwell, Congresswoman Debbie Wasserman Schultz noted, “what is disturbing to me is it appears as though you spent more time as secretary of state in the 2004 election reducing or suppressing voter participation as opposed to expanding it.” She cited several examples: “you created new standards on the use of provisional ballots which disfranchised thousands of voters in predominantly Democratic or minority areas. You rejected thousands of new voter applications simply because they were not printed on the correct weight of paper.”223





In discussing suggestions to prevent voting problems during the 2008 election, Gilda Daniels, former Deputy Voting Section Chief, testified, “In 2004, in my estimation, DOJ’s perspective was too retrospective and not preventive. An inordinate amount of resources went into election day activities. In order to protect the fundamental right to vote, the government must act prior to election day.”224 Expounding on the steps that had been taken by the Department, Mr. von Spakovsky stated that the Bush Administration officials met with civil rights organizations. Mr. Hebert countered that the Department should move beyond meeting. He said, “I would agree that it’s important obviously for the Justice Department to meet with civil rights organizations and voting groups and others. But you have to do more than just meet. You have to agree on what the procedures are going to be at the Department of Justice when you encounter a real problem, say like vote caging.”225





Finally, on September 24, 2008, the Subcommittee on the Constitution and the Committee on House Administration’s Subcommittee on Elections held a joint oversight hearing to examine federal, state, and local efforts to prepare for the 2008 election. Several state and local election officials and voting rights experts testified. Witnesses acknowledged the significant increase in the number of voters – more than 3.5 million new voters, up 64% from the same period four years ago. The witnesses discussed the proactive and preemptive steps that will and should be taken by federal, state, and local official to address election administration and voting rights issues likely to arise during the 2008 presidential election in order to ensure a fair election. Witnesses addressed a range of issues, from early voting, machine allocation and military voting and provisional ballots and voter suppression.





In urging the Department to take proactive, preemptive steps to prepare for the upcoming election Paul Hancock, Partner, K&L Gates and former Justice Department Acting Deputy Assistant Attorney General for Civil Rights, cautioned that there is no “re-run” in presidential elections. “So when we talk about preparing for this election, what we need to do is have a procedure in place, a program in place, for identifying the problems before the day of the election and correcting those problems before the day of the elections, or at least promptly as the election is taking place.”226





More recently, in the run up to the 2008 presidential election, Chairman Conyers and other members took action in response to apparent efforts to suppress votes by targeting groups such as Association of Community Organizations for Reform Now (ACORN) which work to register and turn out voters. Republican animosity towards ACORN was well-known to the Committee from the investigation into the U.S. Attorney removals, as David Iglesias appears to have been targeted for removal in part because he resisted Republican pressure to bring a frivolous indictment of the group.227 And Bradley Schlozman – who replaced U.S. Attorney Todd Graves in Missouri after Mr. Graves resisted a flawed lawsuit proposed by Mr. Schlozman that unduly burdened the right to vote – himself brought several highly questionable (and widely publicized) indictments against ACORN workers in the days before the 2006 elections.228





Thus, when a supposed nationwide investigation into ACORN was launched and improperly leaked in the weeks just before the 2008 presidential election, Chairman Conyers immediately questioned the Attorney General and the Director of the FBI on the matter, writing that “it is simply unacceptable that such information would be leaked during the very peak of the election season” and pointing out that the leak likely violated Department regulations as well as “valuable Department traditions regarding the need for cautious and sensitive handling of election-related matters during the run up to voting (or, as here, while early voting is underway).”229 Several days later, Chairman Conyers and Subcommittee Chairs Nadler and Sánchez wrote again on this subject, decrying reports of violence and intimidation against election workers around the country, including threats that had been made against ACORN after the leak of information about the supposed investigation of the group.230 In response to these communications, the Department has referred the matter to its Offices of the Inspector General and Professional Responsibility.231





The Committee continued to keep a watchful eye on charges of voter suppression around the country in the run up to the 2008 elections. For example, Chairman Conyers along and Subcommittee Chairman Nadler sent a letter to Attorney General Muskasey on September 18, 2008 requesting an investigation into reports that the Republican Party in Macomb County, was planning to use a list of foreclosed homes as a basis to challenge voters and block them from participating in the November 2008 election.232 In addition, on October 29, 2008, Chairman Conyers and Subcommittee Chairmen Nadler and Bobby Scott wrote a letter to the Department to inform them of and call for an appropriate investigation of a fraudulent flyer claiming that state law required Democrats to vote on Wednesday, November 5, 2008.233






III. Findings

Politicization of the Prosecution Function





1. United States Attorneys were removed from office based on improper partisan political considerations. In some cases, the removals were based on overt political reasons such as a desire to satisfy Republican operatives or politicians or displeasure with the U.S. Attorney’s approach to politically sensitive matters such as voter fraud prosecutions. In other cases, the role of politics was more indirect, such as where U.S. Attorneys were removed to create an open job for a favored Republican political operative.


	Former United States Attorney David Iglesias appears to have been removed from his position for improper political reasons, including complaints by New Mexico Republicans regarding his handling of voter fraud and political corruption cases.234


	Former United States Attorney Todd Graves appears to have been removed from his position for improper political reasons, including his refusal to intervene in a political disagreement among Missouri Republicans.235 Mr. Graves may also have been removed because his approach to voting cases was not helpful to Republican political interests.236


	Former United States Attorney John McKay may have been removed from his position for improper political reasons, such as Republican complaints about his refusal to bring voter fraud charges in connection with the extremely close 2004 gubernatorial election in Washington state.237


	Former United States Attorney Bud Cummins appears to have been improperly removed to create a position for former Karl Rove aide Tim Griffin to fill. Some other firings remain unsatisfactorily explained (such as the removal of former United States Attorney Dan Bogden) and may also have been intended to create openings for young Republican to enhance their future employment and political prospects.238




2. Because the Administration and its allies have refused to cooperate with either the congressional investigation or the Department of Justice’s own internal investigation into this matter, critical facts about the reasons for the firings or the broader issues of the politicization of the Department of Justice remain unknown. While the Committee’s investigation was extensive (as was the Inspector General’s), thousands of documents remain hidden inside the White House and no White House officials have provided sworn testimony about their role in these matters. The Justice Department too has refused to provide subpoenaed documents on this subject. Examples of the stonewalling by the Administration on this subject include the following:



	Karl Rove, Harriet Miers, and other White House figures refused to speak with the Committee or with other investigators and White House documents have been withheld.239


	Senator Domenici and his staff have refused to speak with Department investigators.240


	The Republican National Committee has refused to produce subpoenaed documents about the firings.241


	The Justice Department has refused to produce documents about the Siegelman case or other instances of alleged selective prosecution.242




3. The removal of some of the United States Attorneys may have violated the law. While the full facts are not yet known, it appears that at least some of the removals may have violated federal laws against public corruption, fraud, and obstruction of justice.


	The pressure placed on David Iglesias to make charging and prosecutorial decisions based on partisan political considerations may have violated federal statutes regarding obstruction of justice (18 U.S.C. §1503), wire fraud (18 U.S.C. § 1343), provision of honest services (18 U.S.C. §1346), and conspiracy (18 U.S.C. § 1349, 18 U.S.C. §371).243


	Removing federal prosecutors such as David Iglesias, John McKay, or Todd Graves based on their refusal to use their public offices to affect elections may have violated the criminal Hatch Act’s prohibition on retaliation against employees who refuse to aid a political campaign (18 U.S.C. § 606).244


	Removing federal prosecutors such as David Iglesias, John McKay, or Todd Graves to influence the outcome of future elections or as part of a broader-based effort to hinder citizens’ exercise of their constitutional right to vote may have violated the civil Hatch Act (5 U.S.C. § 7332) and the federal criminal prohibition on depriving citizens of the constitutional rights under color of law (18 U.S.C. § 242).245




4. Then-Attorney General Alberto Gonzales made inaccurate or misleading statements to Congress and the public, including:



	Alberto Gonzales’ statement that he “was not involved in seeing any memos, was not involved in any discussions about what was going on” appears to have been false.246 Just a few months before he made this statement, Mr. Gonzales participated in the key meeting on November 27, 2006, where he received a memorandum detailing the plan and personally approved the removals.247


	At least one of Alberto Gonzales’ contradictory statements about the role of the Deputy Attorney General, some of which were given under oath, appears to have been false.248 At one point, Mr. Gonzales testified that the Deputy’s views were of paramount importance to him in approving the removals and at another point he testified that the Deputy was not sufficiently involved in the matter.249


	Mr. Gonzales’ testimony that “I would never, ever make a change in a United States attorney position for political reasons... I just would not do it” was false; at a minimum, it is clear that U.S. Attorney Bud Cummins was removed so that a former aide to Karl Rove could bolster his political resume with service as a U.S. Attorney.250


	Mr. Gonzales’ testimony about his conversations with Senator Domenici in late 2005 and early 2006 concerning David Iglesias appears to have been false, as these conversations do not appear to have involved complaints by Senator Domenici about Mr. Iglesias’ job performance and instead appear to have focused on the Senator’s belief that Mr. Iglesias should be given more resources.251


	Mr. Gonzales’ statement that he did not discuss the matter with potential witnesses appears to have been false in light of Monica Goodling’s testimony that he reviewed his recollections with her.252


	Mr. Gonzales’ statements to Department investigators that he had “no present recollection” of approving a sweeping order delegating personnel authority to Kyle Sampson and Monica Goodling may have been inaccurate in light of his testimony before the House Judiciary Committee on May 10, 2007, describing the creation of this order in which Mr. Gonzales’ did not profess any lack of recollection on the subject.253




5. Then-Deputy Attorney General Paul McNulty and then-Principal Associate Deputy Attorney General Will Moschella made several inaccurate or misleading statements, including:



	Testimony by Deputy Attorney General McNulty and Principal Associate Deputy Attorney General Moschella that minimized the role of the White House in the U.S. Attorney firings was misleading.254 The White House did not play merely a perfunctory or “final approval” role at the end of the process in Fall 2006, as Mr. McNulty and Mr. Moschella testified, but was substantially involved in the matter from its inception in early 2005. Indeed, White House officials Harriet Miers and Karl Rove appear to have originally proposed the idea of removing U.S. Attorneys and Ms. Miers’ office received multiple drafts of the firing list over a two year period. In addition, while these documents have not yet been made available, the Department of Justice has confirmed that internal White House documents discuss the plan, including “specific U.S. Attorneys who could be removed.”255


	Mr. McNulty and Mr. Moschella’s failure to inform the Committee of Sen. Domenici’s October 2006 call to Mr. McNulty regarding Mr. Iglesias was a significantly misleading omission, because that call appears to have played a material role in the decision to remove Mr. Iglesias from his position.256




6. Former Chief of Staff to the Attorney General Kyle Sampson made inaccurate or misleading statements to Congress and the public, including:



	Kyle Sampson’s written statement to Senate counsel that only 8 U.S. Attorneys were removed from their positions in 2006 was false.257 In fact, 9 U.S. Attorneys were removed in 2006: Daniel Bogden, Paul Charlton, Margaret Chiara, Bud Cummins, Todd Graves, David Iglesias, Carol Lam, John McKay, and Kevin Ryan.258


	Kyle Sampson’s claim that the removals were based on poor performance appears to have been false.259 Most of the removed U.S. Attorneys were top performers as reflected in their Department performance evaluations.260


	Kyle Sampson’s testimony regarding the addition of David Iglesias to the removal list as part of a “group” of United States attorneys added together at the end of the removal process was inaccurate, as there was no such group added at the end and David Iglesias was placed on the list on his own, not as part of a larger set of additions.261


	The Department’s written statement, drafted by Mr. Sampson and reviewed by White House officials, that Karl Rove had no role in the firing of Bud Cummins appears to have been false, as Mr. Rove appears to have been involved in the matter.262


	Kyle Sampson’s repeated professed lack of memory was also highly suspicious given the seriousness of the issues and the length of time he worked on the replacement process.263




7. Then-Chief of Staff to the Deputy Attorney General Michael Elston made apparently inaccurate or misleading statements, including:



	Mr. Elston made statements about telephone calls he placed to the removed U.S. Attorneys that may have been inaccurate or misleading. The U.S. Attorneys who received these calls considered them threatening or intimidating, but Mr. Elston denied this.264


	Mr. Elston’s testimony about a November 1, 2006, e-mail listing the names of U.S. Attorneys that he transmitted to Kyle Sampson may have been incomplete or inaccurate. Mr. Elston testified that he was not actually recommending that any of the U.S. Attorneys named on this e-mail be removed from their positions, but sitting U.S. Attorney Mary Beth Buchanan has accused Mr. Elston of lying to her and, by extension, to the Committee about this subject.265


	Several of the inaccurate or misleading statements described above may have violated the federal False Statements statute, 18 U.S.C. § 1001. A criminal investigation of this matter is underway, and press reports indicate that at least one Department official has been referred to a grand jury.266




8. White House officials played a significant role in the removal of United States Attorneys and subsequent inaccurate or misleading statements on this subject. Although the full extent of this involvement is not known due to the Administration’s withholding of documents and testimony, it is clear even on the current record that the White House played a significant role in instigating, planning, and executing the removal of U.S. Attorneys.


	The idea to remove U.S. Attorneys originated with Karl Rove and Harriet Miers in early 2005, when Mr. Rove asked attorneys in the White House Counsel’s office if U.S. Attorneys would be “selectively replace[d]” and Ms. Miers raised the idea of replacing all 93 U.S. Attorneys at that time.267


	White House officials reviewed multiple drafts of the firing list between early 2005 and December 2006.268


	White House officials in the legal, political, and communications offices gave final approval for the removals.269


	White House officials participated in developing and approving the Department of Justice’s response to the controversy that arose after the removals.270


	White House documents subpoenaed by the Committee discuss “the wisdom of [the] proposal, specific U.S. Attorneys who could be removed, potential replacement candidates, and possible responses to congressional and media inquiries about the dismissals.”271


	Because the President and former White House officials have refused to cooperate with either the congressional investigation or the Department of Justice investigation into this matter, critical facts about the role of White House officials in this matter remain unknown.272




9. Other Department personnel appear to have been hired or fired based on improper or unlawful partisan political considerations. After Monica Goodling testified before the House Judiciary Committee that she had “crossed the line” in basing hiring decisions on political considerations, the Department of Justice’s Offices of the Inspector General and Professional Responsibility concluded that there had been extensive consideration of such factors for a range of career and non-political Department posts in violation of Department policies and regulations, and in some cases contrary to federal statutes.


	Improper or unlawful partisan political considerations were taken into account in the selection of summer interns and Department Honors program attorneys.273 The problem was most severe in 2006 when, according to the Department’s Offices of the Inspector General and Professional Responsibility, “the Screening Committee inappropriately used political and ideological considerations to deselect many candidates.”274


	Improper or unlawful partisan political considerations were taken into account in the hiring of career prosecutors and immigration judges, and the selection of detailees for placement in senior Department offices.275 In particular, Monica Goodling “improperly subjected candidates for certain career positions to the same politically based evaluation she used on candidates for political positions, in violation of federal law and Department policy” and “considered political or ideological affiliations when recommending and selecting candidates for other permanent career positions, including a career SES position in the Executive Office for U.S. Attorneys (EOUSA) and AUSA positions. These actions violated federal law and Department policy, and also constituted misconduct.”276


	This conduct was harmful to the operations of the Department “because it resulted in high-quality candidates for important details being rejected in favor of less-qualified candidates. For example, an experienced career terrorism prosecutor was rejected by Goodling for a detail to EOUSA to work on counter terrorism issues because of his wife’s political affiliations. Instead, EOUSA had to select a much more junior attorney who lacked any experience in counter terrorism issues and who EOUSA officials believed was not qualified for the position.”277


	“[T]he most systematic use of political or ideological affiliations in screening candidates for career positions occurred in the selection of [Immigration Judges] who work in the Department’s Executive Office for Immigration Review (EOIR).”278




10. Partisan politics may have influenced federal criminal prosecutions around the country. A number of federal criminal matters such as the politically-charged prosecutions of former governor of Alabama Donald Siegelman, former Wisconsin civil servant Georgia Thompson, former Allegheny County Coroner Cyril Wecht, Mississippi Supreme Court Justice Oliver Diaz and Mississippi trial attorney Paul Minor may have been tainted by politics, but the House Judiciary Committee has been refused access to information needed to reach conclusions on this issue.279



 Politicization of the Civil Rights Division and Voting Rights Enforcement





11. Partisan politics appears to have influenced Justice Department pre-clearance determinations to the detriment of minority voters.



	There are three specific voting cases where politics appear to have influenced the enforcement decisions of the Department: (i) In 2001, the Justice Department unnecessarily delayed its determination on whether a Mississippi redistricting plan met the requirements of the Voting Rights Act which resulted in the implementation of a redistricting the favored the Republican Party and harmed minority voters; (ii) in 2003, CRT career professional staff (attorneys and analysts) concluded that the Texas congressional redistricting plan spearheaded by Rep. Tom DeLay violated the Voting Rights Act because it illegally diluted the votes of blacks and Hispanics in order to ensure a Republican majority in the state’s congressional delegation, however Justice Department political appointees overruled the lawyers and approved the plan; and (iii) in 2005, CRT staff attorneys and analysts who reviewed a Georgia voter-identification law recommended the law’s rejection, because they determined that the law was likely to discriminate against black voters, however, political officials280 overruled the team’s recommendation.281


	In its report, “The Erosion of Rights,” the Citizens Commission on Civil Rights found that current and former Justice Department attorneys stated that political considerations led senior officials to delay the Mississippi redistricting case and overrule the staff in the Georgia photo ID and Texas redistricting case.282


	The Department’s analysis in these cases was illustrated by then-Voting Right Division Chief John Tanner who said in defending Department’s decision to approve the Georgia Photo ID voting law that “minorities don’t become elderly the way white people do: They die first.”283


	After overruling the career professionals in the Voting Section in both the Georgia and Texas matters, the Justice Department barred staff attorneys from offering recommendations in major Voting Rights Act cases, marking a significant change in the procedures meant to insulate such decisions from politics.284




12. Partisan politics appears to have led to the decline of discrimination cases involving voting rights brought by the Justice Department.


	In 2007, former senior Civil Rights Division attorneys testified that “since 2001, the Civil Rights Division has brought only two cases alleging voting discrimination against African Americans. One, in Crockett County, Tennessee, was authorized under the previous Administration, with the complaint finally filed in April 2001. The other was in 2006 in Euclid, Ohio. No cases involving voting discrimination against African Americans voters have been brought in the Deep South throughout the entire Administration.”285


	During the Bush Administration, the Department took a series of positions adverse to the right of minority voters, such as advising states to deny provisional ballots to voters without IDs, and asking a federal judge in Ohio shortly before the 2004 presidential election to permit challenges to minority voters based on “caging” tactics banned in other jurisdictions.286


	The Department modified the Federal Prosecution of Election Offenses manual in a manner that increases the opportunity for partisan political consideration to influence an election by allowing voting fraud investigations and prosecutions cases to be initiated immediately before an election, and allowing such cases to be brought on an isolated rather than a systemic basis.287


	Political appointees in the Department’s Civil Rights Division also took unprecedented steps to change performance evaluations of career attorneys based on political considerations. Joe Rich, a former Voting Rights Chief from 1999 to 2005, testified that he “was ordered to change standard performance evaluations of attorneys under his supervision to include critical comments of those who had made recommendations that were counter to the political will of the front office and to improve evaluations of those who were politically favored.”288
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